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2019 2020 2021
Change in %1

2021/2020

Ship 13.8 13.1 12.3 −6

Rail 16.9 16.5 17.0 +3

Truck 30.4 29.4 29.0 −1

Total 61.1 59.0 58.2 −1

2019 2020 2021
Change in %1

2021/2020

Sales revenues2 (incl. revenues that cannot
be consolidated)

292.6 291.7 346.8 +19

Sales revenues2 270.0 261.7 314.7 +20

Balance sheet sum 399.6 415.7 438.7 +6

Gross investments 26.4 38.6 42.4 +10

Earnings before interest and taxes and
depreciation/amortization for goodwill and
other assets (EBITDA) 43.9 44.3 55.0 +24

Consolidated net profit 13.3 14.2 18.9 +33

Cash flow I3 34.5 34.1 45.2 +33

Employees 1,332 1,329 1,261 −5

1 Percentage figures have been rounded, rounding tolerance 0.1.
2 Sales revenues +/– changes in stocks + own work capitalized.
3 Annual profit + depreciation for property, plant and equipment + change in provisions.
4 Truck handling volume at company ports is estimated.

duisport Group, key figures (in EUR million) Cargo handled in all Duisburg ports (in million tons)

Turnover of goods in the duisport Group ports (in million tons)

including private company ports

Ship

Rail

Truck4

Total 111.1

2021
Change in %1

2021/2020

41.7

27.5

42.0

+1

+1

+0

123.7

2019 2020

47.6

29.8

46.3

41.1

27.1

42.2

110.4 +1
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Dear Sir or Madam,

More than any other year, 2021 stood for change, transformation, and new begin-
nings. The duisport Group also coped excellently with the second coronavirus cri-
sis year and proved how important cohesion, commitment, and teamwork are for 
the success of a modern company. We will continue to exemplify, promote, and 
demand this team spirit in the coming years. We have initiated a cultural change 
that will play a decisive role in determining the success stories of the Group in the 
coming years.

The #teamduisport faces major challenges in the process: The coronavirus pan-
demic continues to dominate the headlines and is subjecting global supply chains 
to ever new stress tests, while the Ukraine war has added completely unexpected 
problems. This makes it all the more important now to set the right course and 
make targeted investments in the future.

The present successful figures give us opportunities to do so: Although the 2021 
financial year was heavily impacted by the effects and restrictions surrounding the 
third and fourth waves of the pandemic, the duisport Group was able to record an 
increase in earnings of more than 33 percent and an increase in sales of almost 19 
percent. This would not have been possible without the impressive commitment 
of all our colleagues. Once again, the entire Executive Board would like to thank 
them, because without their tireless efforts – whether in the office, at home, on 
the terminals, or in our halls – we would not have been able to maintain our oper-
ations to the full extent.

At 346.8 million euros, the duisport Group’s sales in 2021 were significantly above 
the previous year’s figure of 291.7 million euros – an increase of 18.9 percent. The 
forecast of 315 million euros was thus also clearly exceeded. As a result of the 
increased sales, EBITDA improved to 54.6 million euros (2020: 44.3 million euros). 
Earnings before taxes amounted to 29.5 million euros, thus exceeding the previous 
year’s figure of 22.3 million euros. Net profit after tax grew 33.1 percent from 14.2 
million euros to 18.9 million euros.

Markus Bangen
Chief Executive Officer of the Executive Board

Dr. Carsten Hinne
Member of the Executive Board

Prof. Thomas Schlipköther
Member of the Executive Board
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Container throughput also rose again slightly by 2 percent to around 4.3 million 
TEU (previous year: 4.2 million TEU). In total, the duisport Group handled 58.2 mil-
lion tons of goods by ship, rail, and truck last year. All Duisburg ports together han-
dled a total of 111.1 million tons (previous year: 110.4 million tons).

These figures prove it: The duisport Group has stayed on course in stormy times 
and shown that it is crisis-proof and positioned for the future. Our diversified busi-
ness model is a key success factor in this. With the four central business units 
of Infra- and Suprastructure, Logistic Services, Packaging Logistics and Contract 
Logistics, as well as special know-how in the fields of construction and consulting, 
duisport has developed into a highly regarded full-service provider and one of the 
most important players in the logistics industry.

To maintain and expand this status, we have initiated urgently needed invest-
ments for the future. Infrastructure and engineering, innovation, sustainability 
and digitalization are the key topics that have occupied us primarily in the second 
half of the past year and will remain at the top of the agenda in the coming months 
and years.

At our home location in Duisburg, the focus is on modernizing the port infrastruc-
ture. duisport is investing massively in roads, rails, and bridges to make internal 
traffic and handling processes faster and more efficient, but also to further relieve 
the burden on the neighboring residential neighborhoods. The construction of 
the Duisburg Gateway Terminal (DGT) and the connection of all four terminals in 
Ruhrort are milestones in the long history of the Port of Duisburg.

In doing so, the duisport Group is sending out a clear signal for sustainable busi-
ness and climate protection. As the largest inland port in the world, located in the 
middle of one of the largest cities in the Ruhr region, we bear a high responsibility 
for the citizens of Duisburg. Through efficient and sustainable transport concepts, 
we are continuously working to optimize our contribution to environmental pro-
tection. To this end, the Group drew up a corresponding environmental strategy 
at the beginning of 2021. This comprises the four fields of action modal shift, air, 
noise and climate, energy supply, and resources. The aim is to develop the Port of 
Duisburg into a central hinterland hub for green hydrogen, ammonia, methanol, 
and liquid CO2 in the future.

Due to its geographical location and connections in the heart of Europe, the Port 
of Duisburg has a unique hub function. We will therefore also continue to drive for-
ward the expansion of the international network and further diversify it. In 2021, 
the duisport Group continued to hold investments in various operating companies 
in Germany and abroad, including in Germany, Belgium, France, India, and China. 
Through the investment in the Port of Trieste and the Railport project in Turkey, 
the duisport Group is expanding its presence in the Mediterranean region and will 
benefit from the growing flow of goods through Central Europe in the future.

The year 2021 challenged us all and was marked by change and new beginnings. 
The year 2022 presents us with even greater challenges. We will master them with 
cohesion, commitment, and teamwork because we are convinced that we have 
initiated the right measures to consolidate and sustainably strengthen the posi-
tion of the Port of Duisburg as a central logistics and energy hub in Europe.

On behalf of the Executive Board of Duisburger Hafen AG

MARKUS BANGEN
Chief Executive Officer
Duisburg, June 21, 2022
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Dr. Hendrik Schulte
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dear Sir or Madam,

During the 2021 financial year, the Supervisory Board was informed of the situa-
tion and development of the Company and its affiliated companies, as well as all 
significant business transactions, by means of the quarterly reports, the corporate 
plan and the reports of the Executive Board at the Supervisory Board meetings. It 
satisfied itself of the proper conduct of business by these means and by detailed 
discussion of all matters presented.

Four ordinary and three extraordinary meetings of the Supervisory Board were 
held in fiscal year 2021. At these meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt with all 
issues of importance to the Group and passed a large number of resolutions.

Of particular importance in fiscal 2021 were the appointment of the new Chair-
man of the Executive Board and the appointment of a further Executive Board 
member. The former Chairman of the Executive Board, Mr. Staake, had offered to 
hand over the office of Chairman of the Executive Board early on July 31, 2021, 
referring to the succession arrangement already in place. The Supervisory Board 
approved this in its meeting on June 25, 2021. In connection with the allegations 
made against the former Chairman of the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board 
had a greater need for clarification. Individual issues were therefore analyzed with 
the help of external experts. The commissioned auditors and lawyers were unable 
to identify any legally relevant misconduct on the basis of these allegations. Nev-
ertheless, some internal regulations were amended or supplemented by the Com-
pany.

In addition, the Executive Board continuously reported to the Supervisory Board 
on the effects of the coronavirus pandemic with regard to the maintenance of 
the Port’s core functions, risk provisioning, and measures to protect employees. In 
addition, there were consultations and decisions on the investments of the duis-
port Group, particularly with regard to relevant construction projects, infrastruc-
ture measures in the Duisburg port area, and future technologies.

The report of the Board of Management on relations with affiliated companies 
(dependent company report) for the period January 1 to December 31, 2021 was 
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DR. HENDRIK SCHULTE
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Duisburg, June 21, 2022

audited by Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft in accordance with 
the statutory provisions. The audit did not lead to any objections, so an unqualified 
audit opinion was issued.

The annual financial statements for the 2021 financial year, including the account-
ing records and the management report of the Executive Board, have been audited 
by Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, the auditors appointed by 
the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with the statutory provisions. The 
audit showed that the accounting records, the annual financial statements of 
Duisburger Hafen AG, the consolidated financial statements, and the manage-
ment report comply with the law and the articles of association. 

There are also no objections to be raised following the final result of the Supervi-
sory Board’s review.

The Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements of Duisburger 
Hafen AG, the consolidated financial statements and the management report 
prepared by the Executive Board at today’s meeting. The financial statements are 
thus adopted in accordance with Section 172 of the Stock Corporation Act.

The Supervisory Board concurs with the Executive Board’s proposal to distribute 
an amount of EUR 6,000,000.00 to the shareholders from the unappropriated 
profit of Duisburger Hafen AG in the amount of EUR 22,181,162.81 and to transfer 
the remaining amount to the legal reserve.
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State Secretary, Ministry of Transport of the State
of North Rhine-Westphalia, Düsseldorf
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Patrick Opdenhövel
State Secretary, Ministry of Finance of the State
of North Rhine-Westphalia, Düsseldorf
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Karl-Heinz Wich-Kuhnlein
Commercial employee,
Duisburger Hafen AG, Duisburg
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Martin Murrack
City Director/City Treasurer, City of Duisburg
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Supervisory Board
 
Ulrich Brottmann
Electrician,
dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH, Duisburg

Thomas Dautzenberg
Head Central Department
Ministry of Transport of the country
North Rhine-Westphalia, Düsseldorf

Katrin Floryszczak
Commercial employees,
dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH, Duisburg

Martin Gräf
Chief Officer, Ministry for Transportation for the
State of North Rhine-Westphalia, Düsseldorf
(dormant mandate since June 25, 2021)

Nadine Krischer
Commercial employee
duisport rail GmbH, Duisburg

Susanne Elsässer
Managing Director, Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft
des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen mbH, Düsseldorf

Thomas Susen
Councilman, City of Duisburg
(dormant mandate until June 25, 2021)

Dr. Tobias Traupel
Head of Department, Ministry of Economic Affairs, Innovation, 
Digitalization and Energy of the State
of North Rhine-Westphalia, Düsseldorf

Udo Vohl † June 19, 2022

Councilman, City of Duisburg

Board of Directors

Lawyer Markus Bangen
Chief Executive Officer of the Executive Board 
(since August 1, 2021)
Member of the Executive Board (until July 31, 2021)

Dipl.-Kfm. Erich Staake
Chief Executive Officer of the Executive Board 
(until July 31, 2021)

Prof. Dipl.-Ing. Thomas Schlipköther
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Dr. Carsten Hinne
Member of the Executive Board (since January 1, 2022)
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I. Foundations of the Group

Duisburger Hafen AG (duisport) was founded in 1926 and 
is the ownership and management company of the Port of 
Duisburg, the world’s largest inland port.

Ideal site conditions, a particularly advantageous geographical 
location, and comprehensive logistics expertise make the Port 
of Duisburg the leading logistics hub in Central Europe. The 
port’s network of industrial and logistics companies makes a 
fundamental contribution to the optimization of national and 
international transport chains. The Port of Duisburg’s multi-
modal networking of international freight traffic underlines its 
position as a gateway hub to the markets of Europe. As part of 
its sustainability strategy, the duisport Group is focusing not 
only on strengthening the rail and inland waterway modes 
of transport, but also on hydrogen as an alternative energy 
source and the driving force behind new propulsion technol-
ogies, and on resource-saving procurement.

The company’s range of services is divided into four business 
areas: Infra- and Suprastructure, Logistics Services, Packaging 
Logistics, and Contract Logistics. Through a comprehensive 
product portfolio combined with targeted investments, the 
duisport Group pursues the goal of positioning itself in a 
stable and future-oriented way regionally, nationally, and 
internationally.

The economic importance of duisport is additionally reflected 
in the approximately 52,000 direct and indirect employees who 
work in the roughly 300 transport and logistics companies 
situated in the Port of Duisburg.

Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft des Landes Nord- 
rhein-Westfalen mbH holds two thirds of the shares in the 
company. One third of the shares is held by the City of Duisburg.

II. Financial Report

1. General conditions
According to initial calculations by the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF)1, global economic growth in 2021 was 5.9 percent, 
following a negative figure of -3.1 percent in 2020. The global 
economy thus recovered significantly in 2021 from the crisis 

year of 2020. Nevertheless, negative factors such as fragile 
supply chains, increasing inflation, and rising energy prices 
overall had a correspondingly greater impact over the course 
of the year. In the eurozone, economic growth in 2021 was 
5.2 percent, compared with -6.4 percent in 2020. The Chinese 
economy recorded positive growth of 8.1 percent compared 
with the previous figure of 2.3 percent.

The recovery of the global economy also had a positive impact 
on international trade.

According to initial calculations by the Federal Statistical Office2, 
price-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) in Germany in 
2021 was 2.7 percent higher than in the previous year. Economic 
development in 2021 was also influenced by the coronavirus 
infection and the protective measures derived from it. The 
economic performance of the pre-crisis level could not yet be 
achieved again. The GDP in 2021 was still 2.0 percent lower 
than in 2019. Foreign trade recovered significantly from the 
declines in 2021. In price-adjusted terms, Germany exported 
9.4 percent more goods and services abroad than in 2020, 
while imports increased by 8.6 percent. Accordingly, Germany’s 
foreign trade in 2021 was only slightly below the level of 2019.

2. Presentation of the net assets, financial position,
and results of operations

Consolidated Financial Statements of the duisport Group

Earnings
Sales3 of the duisport Group plus the proportionate sales 
from non-consolidated strategic investments amounted to 
346.8 million euros in the reporting year (of which sales from 
non-consolidated strategic investments: 32.0 million euros), 
significantly above the previous year’s figure of 291.7 million 
euros. The figure of 315 million euros forecast in the previous 
year was therefore exceeded.

Sales3 (including pro rata sales from non-consolidated strate-
gic investments), EBITDA4 and earnings before taxes are the 
Group’s financial performance indicators.

In the Infrastructure and Suprastructure business segment, 
the duisport Group generated sales3 of 55.6 million euros, thus 

Duisburg Group Management Report
and Management Report 

exceeding the level of the previous year (2020: 53.6 million 
euros). This is attributable to new leases and lease revisions.

In the Logistics Services business segment, sales3 increased by 
35.1 percent to 116.7 million euros in 2021 (2020: 86.4 million 
euros). The decisive factors for this development are renewed, 
significant increases in the area of forwarding services and 
transport fees at duisport agency GmbH, the expansion of 
activities in Poland, and the expansion of the project business 
of duisport consult GmbH.

The Packaging Logistics business segment achieved a sales 
volume3 of 94.6 million euros in 2021, following revenues 
of 86.4 million euros in the previous year. However, the 
pre-coronavirus level of 102.0 million euros from 2019 could 
not be reached.

The Contract Logistics business segment generated revenues3 
of 29.5 million euros (2020: 33.8 million euros). The decline 
is primarily related to the expiration of the contract with a 
long-standing major customer at the end of 2020, which was, 
however, partially offset by new activities.

In addition, the duisport Group generated other sales of 18.1 
million euros (2020: 1.9 million euros), primarily resulting 
from the sale of a building.

As a result of the increase in sales, EBITDA also improved to 
55.0 million euros in 2021 (2020: 44.3 million euros). Earnings 
before taxes amounted to 29.5 million euros and were thus 
higher than the previous year’s figure of 22.3 million euros. The 
previous year’s forecast of stable earnings was thus exceeded.

The higher other operating income is primarily attributable 
to increased subsidies for various investment measures and 
research projects as well as to the reversal of specific valuation 
allowances recognized in prior periods.

The increase in sales is also accompanied by a higher cost of 
materials. The proceeds from the sale of buildings included in 
sales led to an improvement in the average reported materials 
usage ratio. However, this effect was countered by significantly 
higher costs for wood, steel, fuel, and other input materials 
as a result of the distortions on the procurement markets. 

The overall increase in personnel expenses is mainly due to 
higher salaries, higher vacation and overtime accounts, and 
increased expenses for severance payments and pensions.

The figure for depreciation and amortization is below the 
previous year’s level. This decline is mainly due to the fact 
that impairment losses were recognized on one asset in the 
Contract Logistics segment in the previous year. There were 
no comparable circumstances in the reporting year.

The increase in other operating expenses is attributable on 
the one hand to higher third-party services for the mainte-
nance of infrastructure in the Duisburg Port area and on the 
other hand to increased consulting expenses incurred for the 
various projects of the Group. This was partly offset by the 
reduction in leasing expenses for movable assets.

The financial result deteriorated from -2.4 million euros to -5.6 
million euros. With increased income from investments and 
lower interest expense, write-downs on two investments in 
particular contributed to this development.

Net assets
The duisport Group’s total assets increased from 415.7 million 
euros in the previous year to 438.7 million euros due to capi-
tal expenditures and the expansion of business operations. 
In the past financial year, the duisport Group made 42.4 million 
euros (2020: 38.6 million euros) in investments in fixed asset 
and financial investments. These also include investments 
in financial assets.

Further financial resources of 14.1 million euros (2020: 10.8 
million euros) were used in 2021 for maintenance work on 
the infra- and superstructure of the Port of Duisburg in order 
to further strengthen the location.

This means that a total of 56.5 million euros in financial 
resources was invested in 2021.

In the infrastructure business, assets are mainly tied up in 
the long term as fixed assets such as land, buildings or port 
infrastructure. At 79.3 percent, the intensity of investments 
as of December 31, 2021 is slightly lower than in the previous 
year (80.9 percent).

1 IMF World Economic Outlook Update, January 2022.
2 Federal Statistical Office, Press Release No. 020, Jan. 14, 2022.
3 Sales including own work capitalized and changes in inventories of the duisport Group.
4 Earnings before interest, taxes, and amortization of goodwill and other assets.
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affiliated companies. This increase is in turn largely due to 
higher investment income and the associated receivables 
from profit transfers. On the other hand, bank balances in 
particular decreased as of the reporting date.

On the liabilities side, equity rose, taking into account the 
profit distribution and the net profit for the year. The equity 
ratio in the annual financial statements of Duisburger Hafen 
AG is therefore 43.3 percent and therefore greater than the 
previous year (40.1 percent). Provisions increased by 0.8 million 
euros, which is primarily due to the development of pension 
obligations with current tax and other provisions remaining 
more or less unchanged. The decrease in liabilities by 7.0 
million euros is primarily attributable to lower liabilities to 
affiliated companies – in particular from cash pooling – as 
of the reporting date.

Duisburger Hafen AG will report deferred tax liabilities for 
the first time as of December 31, 2021. This is due to the fact 
that deferred tax assets previously predominated within the 
income tax group managed by the company and the option 
to recognize them in the balance sheet was waived. Due to 
a circumstance to be taken into account for the first time, 
deferred tax liabilities are now to be recognized for the first 
time – after offsetting against deferred tax assets, for which 
recognition is mandatory.

The financing of the Company itself and the performance of 
the Group’s internal financing function are secured by existing 
credit lines and long-term loan agreements with several banks.

2.1 The Group’s Infrastructure and Suprastructure
business segment
The Infrastructure and Suprastructure business segment 
comprises the leasing of commercial and industrial space 
as well as the rental of warehouse space and other supra-
structure facilities. 

Within this business segment, the Infrastructure business 
unit generated sales3 of €33.0 million in 2021 from the leas-
ing of commercial and industrial space (2020: €30.6 million).

Duisburger Hafen AG and Hafen Duisburg-Rheinhausen GmbH 
(HDR) marketed a total of approximately 72.9 hectares of 
new land in 2021.

With regard to an area of around 12 hectares at logport VI 
in Walsum, a leasehold agreement was concluded with an 
international container shipping company, which submitted 
a corresponding building application in December 2021. The 
adjacent terminal with an area of around 5.4 hectares was 
completed in 2021 and will start operations in 2022.

In the port area, a new contract was successfully concluded 
to replace a contract for around 24 hectares of land with a 
leading tank terminal operator on the oil island, which was 
due to expire.

The new building on Ehinger Strasse, which was completed 
in 2020 with a site area of around 3.2 hectares, was awarded 
to two e-commerce companies. 

Sales3 in the Suprastructure business unit comprise the rental 
of hall space and other suprastructure facilities for logistics 
purposes. It amounted to 24.7 million euros in 2021 and was 
thus above the already high level of the previous year, despite 
the coronavirus pandemic.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, a building on logport I with a 
size of approximately 28,400 square meters was sold. This 
circumstance resulted in extraordinary income at the level 
of Hafen Duisburg-Rheinhausen GmbH.

A total of more than 2 million square meters of covered storage 
space is available in the Port of Duisburg and is used by the 
approximately 300 companies located in the port.

2.2 The Group’s Logistics Services business segment
The development and optimization of transport chains and the 
strengthening of the rail transport hub in Duisburg are among 
the core competences of the logistics service portfolio of the 
duisport Group. The Group provides tailor-made transport 
services in the entire multimodal freight transport sector. The 
efficient linking of the rail, road, and water transport modes is 
supplemented by a wide range of services, including project 
logistics and consulting.

Including the private works ports, around 111.1 million tons 
of goods were handled in the entire Port of Duisburg in 2021. 
The total throughput thus stabilized at the level of the previous 
year (110.4 million metric tons).
 

In contrast, current assets increased to 90.5 million euros 
(previous year: 79.0 million euros). While bank balances 
decreased due to the reporting date, trade accounts receiv-
able increased due to settlements in the project business. 
The expanded inventories are primarily due to increased 
stockpiling as a result of the volatile price development on 
the raw material markets.

The equity ratio of the duisport Group increased to 43.0 
percent as of December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020: 41.8 
percent).

The increase in accruals is mainly due to higher outstanding 
purchase invoices and increased pension obligations.

At 147.5 million euros, liabilities to banks were at the same 
level as in the previous year (147.1 million euros). Including 
bank balances, net liabilities to banks increased by 5.1 million 
euros. One of the main reasons for this is the increase in 
capital expenditure compared with the previous year, plus 
the maintenance measures carried out.

The higher deferred tax liabilities are due to the fact that tax 
effects from the income tax consolidation of Duisburger Hafen 
AG had to be taken into account for the first time.

Financial position
The credit terms underlying the loan portfolio of the duisport 
Group are virtually unchanged compared with the previous 
year. 

The cash flow statement shows that the positive cash flow 
from operating activities of 16.5 million euros was primarily 
used to cover the cash outflows from investing activities in 
the amount of 15.3 million euros. The negative cash flow from 
financing activities totaling 4.9 million euros was financed 
by the remaining positive cash flow from operating activities 
amounting to 1.2 million euros and a reduction in cash and 
cash equivalents of 3.7 million euros.

Annual Financial Statements of Duisburger Hafen AG

Earnings
At 47.2 million euros, sales in the individual financial state-
ments of Duisburger Hafen AG were 1.1 million euros higher 
than in the previous year and thus at the same level as the 
figure of around 46 million euros forecast in the previous year. 
EBITDA is 35.3 million euros (previous year: 18.9 million euros) 
and therefore significantly above the figure forecast in the 

previous year, which assumed a constant level. At EUR 31.2 
million, earnings before taxes were also significantly higher 
than the previous year’s figure of EUR 20.0 million. Here, 
too, a constant level had been forecast in the previous year.
 
The increase in sales resulted primarily from higher lease 
income for land due to lease price revisions. In addition, there 
were higher intercompany services. 

At -0.2 million euros, the operating result5 was significantly 
below the previous year’s figure of 4.7 million euros. This 
is due above all to significantly higher personnel and other 
operating expenses. 

The year-on-year increase in other operating income is mainly 
attributable to higher grants received for investment measures 
and research projects, increased income from the reversal of 
specific valuation allowances, and the income from the sale 
of shares in a subsidiary.

The lower cost of materials can be attributed to a decline 
in the cost of purchased services, as the volume of external 
services used was visibly reduced in the financial year.

The higher personnel expenses compared with 2020 resulted 
primarily from collective pay increases and other salary 
adjustments. In addition, expenses for pensions and severance 
payments increased, as did accruals for vacation and overtime. 
The latter were greatly reduced in the first pandemic year 
2020, but have now risen again. 

The higher depreciation and amortization compared with the 
previous year is mainly due to the impairment loss recognized 
on a logistics project that was no longer being pursued. 

The higher other operating expenses are mainly due to a 
significant increase in maintenance expenses, particularly 
for port infrastructure, and higher consulting expenses in 
connection with the many projects of Duisburger Hafen AG. 

Net financial expense improved significantly due to the 
increase in income from investments. However, this effect 
was partly offset by higher write-downs of financial assets.

Net assets and financial position
Total assets increased by approximately 15.4 million euros 
in the individual financial statements of Duisburger Hafen 
AG. On the assets side, this is attributable to the increase in 
receivables and other assets, in particular receivables from 

3 Sales including own work capitalized and changes in inventories of the duisport Group.
5 Net income plus income taxes and less financial result.
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In 2021, the ports of the duisport Group handled a traffic 
volume of 58.2 million tons (2020: 59.0 million tons) in rela-
tion to the three modes of transport: ship, rail, and truck. 
As a result of market-related developments based on the 
energy turnaround and in the course of industry-specific 
developments, the coal and iron / steel / non-ferrous metals 
freight groups together with the other segments in the bulk 
goods sector, with the exception of the scrap metal freight 
group, remained below the volume of the previous year in 
2021. This is a trend that will continue in the coming years. 
In contrast, the clearly positive volume development in the 
future-oriented segment of combined transport should be 
emphasized, which resulted in a corresponding compensative 
effect for the total throughput volume in 2021.

While goods transported by ship declined year-on-year to 12.3 
million tons (2020: 13.1 million tons), volumes transported 
by rail increased to 17.0 million tons (2020: 16.5 million tons) 
in 2021. At 29.0 million tons, truck traffic remained slightly 
below its prior-year level (2020: 29.4 million tons).

Including all modes of transport, container throughput in 
the ports of the duisport Group reached the record level of 
4.3 million TEU in 2021 (2020: 4.2 million TEU). Container 
throughput by ship and rail (including ro-ro cargo) increased 
from 17.7 million tons in 2020 to 18.6 million tons in 2021.

As the central marketing and sales company, duisport agency 
GmbH (dpa) assumes extensive tasks in all transport and 
logistics areas within the duisport Group. Both the compa-
ny’s own logistics services and those offered by the partner 
network are used for this purpose.

With regard to the conception, expansion, and realization 
of intermodal hinterland transports, dpa is the central point 
of contact in the Port of Duisburg. In 2021, for example, 
dpa further developed direct transports between Genk and 
Poznań and converted them to a gateway concept. In addi-
tion, duisport’s gateway function along the east-west axis 
was strengthened. 

In addition, dpa has extended its service portfolio to include 
terminal-related value-added services. These include slot 
management and storage solutions. Activities in the area of 
cross-docking services were also expanded.

Within the service portfolio of the duisport Group, dfl duisport 
facility logistics GmbH (dfl) is focused on the “Port Logistics” 

business area. Here, the company has a high level of compe-
tence in the operation of container and bulk terminals. 

In the past fiscal year, dfl generated total sales revenues at a 
comparable level to the previous year. It should be noted that 
dfl terminated the operation of the bulk terminal specializing in 
coal handling on the coal island as planned at the end of 2020. 

In contrast, volumes in dfl’s Automotive business were sub-
dued. This was partly due to restrained consumer demand in 
the automotive sector in the wake of the ongoing coronavirus 
pandemic.

Thanks to its deployment of a 3D crane simulator starting in 
the first half of 2020, dfl has also significantly strengthened the 
area of training and further education in 2021. The simulator 
enables practical and realistic training, which contributes 
significantly to an increase in the safety and efficiency of 
container handling. It is the first of its kind worldwide for 
trimodality in inland ports and simulates the respective 
terminal in real time.

In addition to the restrictions related to the coronavirus 
pandemic, the market environment of duisport rail GmbH 
(dpr) in the past financial year was characterized by intense 
price competition and a simultaneously rising cost structure, 
e.g., for fuels. dpr successfully countered the strained market 
situation with regard to the availability of skilled railway 
and technical personnel with its own company training and 
continuing education program. Measured in terms of realized 
sales revenue, the overall order situation in 2021 was above 
the pre-pandemic level of 2019.

duisport consult GmbH (dpc), the consulting and project 
company of the duisport Group, realized an extensive project 
volume in 2021. The level of sales in the past financial year 
was accordingly higher than in the previous year. In 2021, 
dpc provided services, among other things, for a project for 
the construction of a new transshipment and storage hall 
for high-quality imported goods, including office and social 
buildings, in the area of Nordhafen Ruhrort as well as for 
planning and project management for the construction of a 
new police station in Duisburg-Ruhrort.

2.3 The Group’s Packaging Logistics business segment
In the duisport Group, the Packaging Logistics business seg-
ment is largely defined by the three core areas of Packaging, 
Logistics, and Service.

As a packaging specialist for the capital goods industry, 
duisport has been one of the market leaders in Germany 
for many years and offers packaging solutions for every 
dimension up to entire production plants and factories. In 
the 2021 financial year, the economic consequences of the 
coronavirus pandemic also became noticeable in this area in 
the form of a significant weakness in demand. This affected 
the companies of the Packaging Division to varying degrees.

In addition, the increase in purchasing prices for wood and 
partial supply bottlenecks have caused massive problems for 
industrial goods packaging throughout the industry.

In the course of 2021, it also became apparent that individual 
customers have partially brought process flows that had 
previously been outsourced to duisport back to their own 
companies. This had a corresponding effect on the customer 
portfolio and the order figures.

Against the background of market-related developments, 
the sales volume of duisport packing logistics GmbH (dpl 
GmbH) in the 2021 financial year will remained below the 
level of the previous year. The takeover of additional services 
described above partially mitigated losses on the order side. 

The year 2021 was marked by the change of the main pack-
aging location of dpl GmbH from Duisburg-Ruhrort to Duis-
burg-Rheinhausen. The hall capacities in Rheinhausen are 
significantly larger, which means that extensive orders can 
be better consolidated there, thereby allowing corresponding 
cost and synergy effects to be exploited. 

In view of the prevailing market situation in the industrial 
goods packaging sector throughout the industry, dpl Chemnitz 
GmbH also recorded declines in sales in the financial year 
2021 compared with the previous year. This is due, among 
other things, to weaker employment among various existing 
customers, although it was apparent that the mechanical and 
plant engineering sector in the east of the Federal Republic 
also continued its recovery course.

The overall sales revenues of dpl Weinzierl Verpackungen 
GmbH (dpl Weinzierl) in 2021 reached the level of the pre-
vious year. 

Here, too, adjustments were made due to massive price 
increases for raw materials and supplies, in particular for 

wood. Adjusted for price effects, however, operating output 
was below the previous year’s level for market reasons, pri-
marily due to the effects of the pandemic and supply chain 
problems. In addition, the industry-wide development of an 
increased insourcing approach on the part of customers was 
also observed at dpl Weinzierl.

In contrast, Holz Weinzierl Fertigungen GmbH & Co. KG 
generated higher sales in 2021 compared with the previous 
year. Primarily due to the high proportion of materials used 
by the company, which focuses on the production of pack-
aging materials, the price effect, based on the development 
on the procurement markets, had a greater impact on sales.
 
In addition, the company benefits from a diversified customer 
portfolio, which has enabled it to compensate for crisis-re-
lated declines in orders from individual customers elsewhere.

2.4 The Group’s Contract Logistics business segment
In the Contract Logistics segment, duisport in 2021 achieved 
an impressive level of performance quality, especially with 
regard to the development of customized logistics solutions.

For example, the business performance of Bohnen Logis-
tik GmbH & Co. KG (Bohnen Logistik) in 2021 was largely 
characterized by the successful conversion of the Duisburg 
location into a multi-user site. This was made possible by 
the fact that the contract with the major customer originally 
serviced there ended at the end of 2020. This gave the Duis-
burg site the opportunity to expand business with another 
existing customer, including a corresponding expansion of 
the product range.

RBL Reiner Bohnen Logistik GmbH mainly operates for a 
leading provider of washroom hygiene solutions and textile 
services. Business was stable despite the developments 
surrounding the coronavirus pandemic and led to an adjust-
ment of logistics flows to changes in customer requirements 
during the year. This was accompanied by a modification of 
the line-up of the vehicle fleet deployed, combined with an 
expansion of digital support for logistics processes.

2.5 Participations
In 2021, the duisport Group continued to hold investments 
in various operating companies in Germany and abroad, 
including in Belgium, France, Italy, and China.

3 Sales including own work capitalized and changes in inventories of the duisport Group.
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At the local level, duisport is constantly pushing the develop-
ment and marketing of logistics sites and properties in the 
Ruhr region through its investment in logport ruhr GmbH. 

In addition, several joint ventures exist with partners from 
industry and commerce for the further expansion of strategic 
business areas.

In 2021, Duisburger Hafen AG acquired a stake in the Port 
of Trieste. In this way, the duisport Group is strengthening 
its presence there and will benefit in the future from flows 
of goods from the Mediterranean region to Europe. This 
investment was complemented by the acquisition of a further 
shareholding in a company for the expansion of technology 
for intermodal transport.

On the other hand, Duisburger Hafen AG has made value 
adjustments on the investments in two companies in Belarus 
in the present annual financial statements.

2.6 Investments
duisport is one of the elementary pillars of the economic 
structure and the labor market in the Rhine-Ruhr region 
and is an important driver of structural change with a for-
ward-looking international orientation. In order to secure 
the economic future of the Port of Duisburg and increase its 
attractiveness, duisport continuously invests in the expansion 
and optimization of the infra- and suprastructure as well as 
in new projects. 

In addition to the acquisition of strategic shareholdings 
and numerous future-oriented investments, the following 
investment focus in 2021 is worth mentioning:

Following the preparation and development of logport VI, a 
40-hectare logistics site in Duisburg-Walsum, as well as its 
complete marketing, the “Duisburg Multimodal Terminal” 
was constructed in 2021. The modern, trimodal terminal for 
combined transport combines the transport modes water, 
road, and rail. Specifically, the terminal area comprises more 
than 5 hectares, a transshipment bank with a ship’s length 
and several transshipment tracks with a feeder track. A gantry 
crane will be used to handle the cargo. The terminal will start 
operations in 2022.

2.7 Human Resources Management
Digitalization, transformation, and employee recruitment 
and development were also focal areas of Human Resources 
Management in 2021. Around 1,400 employees, including 

trainees and external staff, are currently employed in the 
duisport Group. 

A new payroll and time management system was successfully 
introduced on January 1, 2021. Human resources processes 
were largely digitized as a result.

In addition, Human Resources Management implemented 
an e-learning tool in 2021 which will be usable in the course 
of 2022 in order to give all employees the opportunity to 
acquire further training on their own responsibility. Qualified 
and committed employees are one of the most important 
prerequisites for long-term success for the duisport Group.

In 2021, the duisport Group welcomed 14 new trainees in 
various commercial as well as industrial/technical appren-
ticeships. This means that duisport supervised an average of 
45 trainees in 2021 and laid the foundation for a successful 
career in logistics.

In the past financial year, duisport was certified as an “Excel-
lent Training Company” for the sixth time in a row. This seal of 
quality is awarded annually on the initiative of “ertragswerk-
statt” and is the largest independent and neutral certification 
for training companies in Germany.

2.8 Overall statement on business performance
The 2021 financial year was characterized by the effects 
and restrictions arising from the third and fourth waves of 
the coronavirus pandemic. At the same time, the problems 
faced by the global supply chain combined with a massive 
shortage of raw materials and precursors as well as globally 
disrupted logistics chains negatively impacted the business 
of the duisport Group.

Once again, duisport has proven to be an efficient, crisis-proof 
constant even during this challenging period. The diversified 
business model of the Port of Duisburg clearly demonstrates 
an impressive level of resilience. The Group successfully 
pursued alternative approaches to solutions while simul-
taneously advancing forward-looking innovations. Existing 
projects were implemented consistently, new cooperative 
agreements and partnerships were initiated to expand the 
network, and fundamental courses were set for the coming 
years. duisport has stayed on course.

In 2021, the duisport Group once again succeeded in strength-
ening the competitiveness and attractiveness of Duisburg as 
a logistics and industrial location and of the federal state of 
North Rhine-Westphalia.

III. Opportunity, Risk, and Forecast Report

1. Risk and opportunity report

Opportunities
Even during the coronavirus pandemic, the duisport Group 
initiated and continuously advanced a large number of pro-
jects. These contribute to securing and expanding the market 
position of the duisport Group in the long term.

In the Logistics Services business segment, the expansion of 
trade with Eastern and Southeastern Europe holds particular 
potential. This will generate increased demand, which should 
lead to higher terminal utilization at the Duisburg site.

For example, Duisburger Hafen AG has held a stake in Inter-
porto di Trieste in northern Italy since December 2020. 
Together with the other shareholders, Duisburger Hafen AG 
is working on two areas as part of the investment: on the 
one hand, the development of logistics chains and flows 
of goods on the north-south axis with the aim of directing 
further volumes to the Duisburg location and, on the other 
hand, the development of logistics areas on site in Trieste or 
in the Friuli region. This can be seen as the “internationaliza-
tion of the logport approach”. Through its co-shareholders, 
Interporto di Trieste will have access to land which is to be 
developed on a customer-specific basis with the involvement 
of the expertise of Duisburger Hafen AG. The first settlement 
successes could be realized in 2021.

Implemented in 2020, the digital operator dpa Polska focuses 
on the transport of craneable and non-craneable trailers 
on the east-west-east corridor as well as on the occasional 
handling of China trains. The business model of dpa Polska 
is also geared towards strengthening the Duisburg location 
and aims to integrate customers and partners in order to 
ensure the shift of road transport to intermodal systems. 

In the infra- and suprastructure sector, Duisburger Hafen 
AG and its partner, the City of Duisburg, are implementing 
municipal infrastructure projects of particular interest to the 
Port of Duisburg in the jointly established DIG Duisburger 
Infrastrukturgesellschaft mbH (dig).

The Meiderich bypass (Vohwinkelstrasse), which has now 
been completed, and the Hamborn/Walsum south-west link 
road are among the high-priority road projects of the dig.

Construction work on the first construction phase of the Ham-
born/Walsum south-west link road, which is to connect the 
Duisburg Multimodal Terminal at logport VI with the highway 
network, started in the third quarter of 2021. Completion is 
scheduled for the end of 2022. For the second construction 
phase, the presentation to the Council resolution on the 
preparation of the draft development plan is scheduled for 
the first quarter of 2022. According to current planning, the 
complete realization of the transverse link is to be completed 
by the end of 2024.

The Duisburg Gateway Terminal is a trimodal container 
terminal which duisport is building together with three inter-
national partners in two construction phases on the former 
coal island in the Port of Duisburg. The building permit and 
the subsidy notice have now been issued. Tenders for the 
cranes and the terminal are currently being invited. According 
to current planning, the first construction phase is scheduled 
to start operations at the end of 2023. 

Expansion of e-commerce activities: The coronavirus pan-
demic and its consequences continue to pose major chal-
lenges for the logistics industry: increasing online trade with 
simultaneous delivery bottlenecks, new requirements for 
transparency in the supply chain, and rising transport costs 
with simultaneously declining container capacities. 

The duisport Group has responded to this on many levels 
and developed individual approaches to solutions. In the 
process, the Port has increasingly focused on the growth 
of e-commerce and the associated potential in the area of 
logistics and digitalization. 

Digitalization: Various measures, collaborations, and pro-
jects support the company-wide plan to drive forward the 
digitalization of the Duisburg site and further implement the 
digital mission statement.

To this end, duisport’s own Digitalization division develops 
targeted digital initiatives based on this mission statement. 
Future-oriented topics are being driven forward and actively 
shaped by duisport, as well as further developed both within 
the company and in cooperation with partners and customers.
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In September 2021, the cooperation with RheinPorts GmbH 
was announced as a further step toward the digitalization 
of the Duisburg site and inland waterway transport on the 
Rhine. The existing system, “RheinPorts Information System” 
(or “RPIS” for short), is being used to digitize the processes 
involved in inland waterway transport in the current expansion 
stage. The central objective of the cooperation is the imple-
mentation of the platform in the Port of Duisburg and the 
efficient further development of RPIS with the participation 
of duisport and the companies located in the Port. Specifically, 
it is planned to gradually expand the existing platform to 
include applications and to extend its scope of application to 
other freight segments and modes of transport – such as rail.
 
With the founding of startport GmbH, duisport already 
created a forward-looking innovation platform for logistics 
in 2017. Since the start of the activities, 96 startups have 
already been accepted into the program. The application 
round for the sixth batch, which started in October 2021, was 
another milestone for startport. With nearly 100 applications 
from 25 countries for the incubator as well as an accelerator 
program, the number of applications increased by 73 percent 
compared to the previous selection round. The startups that 
have passed through the startport program have now carried 
out 17 logistics and logistics-related projects with companies 
of the duisport Group.

As part of a 5G project, plans are in place to build a campus 
network in the Port of Duisburg and to implement various 
project ideas related to 5G. One of the aims is to work with 
external partners to obtain funding for the “5G.Smart.Log-
port” project. The purpose of this project is to investigate 
the safe and partially automated control of container cranes 
using innovative 5G technology. The resulting findings will be 
used to enable a higher handling capacity within the same 
space, increase handling speed, and improve the overall 
safety, reliability, and continuity of handling operations. This 
will require solving a number of digitization challenges that 
only appear possible with 5G technology. The technologies 
developed in this way are to be made usable in the medium 
term for other inland ports, the entire city of Duisburg and 
neighboring cities.

Risk report
The coronavirus pandemic exerted a low overall impact on 
the results of the duisport Group in the past two financial 
years. Against the backdrop of higher vaccination rates and 
less severe disease progression, the pandemic-related impact 

on the economy is expected to decline further in the course 
of 2022.

However, a new threat situation for the global economy arose 
at the beginning of 2022 with Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. 
The European Union and the USA have imposed sanctions on 
numerous companies and individuals in Russia and Belarus, 
which may lead to a deterioration in the order situation for 
the companies of the duisport Group and/or a further increase 
in the costs of providing their services.

At the beginning of the armed conflict, the Executive Board of 
the duisport Group set up a task force in which the department 
heads from the Legal, Sales, Compliance, Customs, Corporate 
Development, Controlling, and Finance departments meet 
regularly to discuss current developments and effects and 
define recommendations for action. These are then discussed 
with and approved by the Executive Board. The aim is to ana-
lyze the effects of the war on the companies of the duisport 
Group at an early stage and – wherever possible – to define 
and implement suitable mitigation measures.

In addition to this current threat to the further recovery of 
the global economy, duisport also systematically analyzes 
the other risks for the Port of Duisburg. The risk management 
system which has been implemented for many years now 
meets all the requirements of stock corporation law for an 
early warning system for events that could endanger the 
existence of the company. In the scope of risk management, 
these risks are reduced by appropriate countermeasures, by 
which means the potential volume of risk is limited.

The main individual risks include duisport’s exposure to market 
risks, which are characterized in particular by consolidation 
in the logistics sector and tougher market and competitive 
conditions. duisport responds to changes in the economic 
environment by continuously adapting to the respective 
market conditions and economic framework conditions. 

As the largest infrastructure provider in the Rhine-Ruhr 
region, duisport also faces risks due to the fact that leased 
areas must be prepared after they have been returned by 
the lessees before they can be put to a new use. Agreeing 
on restoration obligations with the lessees allows potential 
financial burdens for the Group to be largely minimized in 
this context.

With regard to the infrastructure projects of the duisport 
Group, the increasing challenges in terms of public corporate 
communication and citizen participation are being actively 
addressed in order to answer justified questions promptly and 
to reduce possible concerns. In this way, a further decisive 
contribution is being made to implementing infrastructure 
projects within the specified time frame.

The coronavirus pandemic has caused a disorganization of 
international supply chains. A major consequence of this is 
that prices for raw materials and input materials have been 
rising steadily since 2020. This problem affects, on the one 
hand, the material input-intensive business segments of the 
duisport Group, such as Packaging and Contract Logistics, 
and, on the other hand, the construction projects initiated 
by duisport. Some of these are becoming considerably more 
expensive than originally calculated. Duisburger Hafen AG is 
responding to this with various cost reduction measures but 
cannot completely escape these effects.

The Port of Duisburg with its location in the Ruhr conurbation 
is particularly dependent on a functional public transport 
infrastructure. One of the biggest current problems in the 
region is the condition and time-consuming rehabilitation 
of the public road infrastructure and the associated bridge 
structures.

2. General statement on opportunities and risks
With regard to the overall assessment of the opportunity and 
risk situation, no risks were identified in the reporting period 
which, either individually or cumulatively, would be capable 
of jeopardizing the continued existence of Duisburger Hafen 
AG or the entire duisport Group. 

The volume of risks identified has increased slightly compared 
with the previous year, including coronavirus-related risks and 
supply chain issues. The risk situation that may arise from the 
war in Ukraine cannot be assessed as of yet.

The companies of the duisport Group are adequately capi-
talized with regards to their business purpose and in consid-
eration of their risk situation.

3. Forecast
The effects of the coronavirus pandemic have been taken into 
account in the budgets of the duisport Group and Duisburger 
Hafen AG for 2022. However, this does not include any effects 
from the armed conflicts in Ukraine.

Before the outbreak of the war, the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) had assumed in January 20221 that the global 
economy would grow by 4.4 percent in 2022. 

Growth of 4.0 percent was forecast for the world’s largest 
economy, the USA, and 4.8 percent for China, the second 
largest economy. For Germany, the IMF predicted an increase 
in gross domestic product (GDP) of 3.8 percent.

According to the IMF, inflation, which has recently jumped as 
a result of high energy prices and supply difficulties in many 
sectors, is likely to remain at a high level at least in 2022. 

Taking into account this expected economic environment, the 
duisport Group was confident that the opportunities for the 
2022 financial year outlined in section III.1. would be realized.

However, since the start of the war in Ukraine has significantly 
changed the general conditions of the global economy, the 
following forecasts for the financial performance indicators of 
the duisport Group and Duisburger Hafen AG must be made 
subject to this effect, which cannot be quantified at present.

Prior to the start of the war in Ukraine, the duisport Group 
planned to generate sales3 of approximately 349 million euros 
in the 2022 financial year (including sales of approximately 
45 million euros from non-consolidated strategic invest-
ments), EBITDA of 42 million euros, and a pre-tax profit of 
19 million euros.

Duisburger Hafen AG forecast sales3 of around 47 million 
euros, EBITDA4 of 17 million euros, and pre-tax earnings of 
15 million euros for the 2022 financial year.

1 IMF World Economic Outlook Update, January 2022. 
3 Sales including own work capitalized and changes in inventories of the duisport Group.
4 Earnings before interest, taxes, and amortization of goodwill and other assets.
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IV. Sustainability

The duisport Group is committed to sustainable management 
and the long-term safeguarding of social and ecological 
standards. Quality, the environment, safety, and reliability 
are integral components of duisport’s corporate identity. 
Satisfied employees who assume responsibility in their area 
and participate in the further development and implementa-
tion of the corporate and sustainability goals are an essential 
driving force in this regard.

Climate protection and sustainability are part of overall 
economic responsibility and are considered an important 
area of entrepreneurial activity. As the world’s largest inland 
port, duisport takes its responsibility seriously and works 
continuously to optimize its contribution to environmental 
protection and provides sustainable transport concepts for 
this purpose.

Based on duisport’s environmental mission statement, the 
Group established a corresponding environmental strategy 
at the beginning of 2021. This comprises the four fields of 
action – “Modal Shift”, “Air, Noise, and Climate”, “Energy 
Supply”, and “Resources” – and rounds off the commitment 
with regard to the long-term objectives in these areas.

In the area of “Modal Shift”, duisport is pushing for a general 
shift in traffic toward a more environmentally friendly modal 
split. In this way, the appropriate framework conditions are 
increasingly being created, particularly with regard to the 
further location optimization of the Port of Duisburg.

In the field of action “Air, Noise, and Climate”, duisport is 
focusing, among other things, on the topic of green fuels. 
Hydrogen in particular is increasingly coming into focus as an 
alternative drive technology, especially in freight and heavy 
goods transport. 

duisport is pursuing the goal of developing the Port of Duis-
burg into a central hinterland hub for green hydrogen, ammo-
nia, methanol, and liquid CO2 in the future. This approach is 
also intended to compensate for the currently declining coal 
volumes and the declining mineral oil volumes expected in 
the future in the course of society’s overall phase-out of 
fossil fuels.

With the establishment of a leading international hydrogen 
company, duisport has already achieved considerable suc-
cess in this respect in 2021. The promise of funding for the 

Hydrogen Innovation Center (IZT) in Duisburg is also a strong 
signal for Duisburg as a future hydrogen hub. 

The “Energy Supply” field of action focuses on increasing 
energy efficiency. The basis for this is the energy transition, 
which poses a number of major challenges: On the one hand, 
the consumption of fossil fuels must be drastically reduced 
and energy demand must be made more flexible; on the 
other hand, the expansion of renewable electricity and heat 
supply must be accelerated accordingly. 

Since 2019, the enerPort I project has been investigating 
which approach can be chosen for inland ports in order to 
provide appropriate support for the transformation process 
in the course of the energy turnaround 

The follow-up project enerPort II, which started on De- 
cember 1, 2021, follows on from this point: The basic princi-
ples already developed are to be implemented and tested in 
concrete terms on the site of the Duisburg Gateway Terminal 
in the form of a modular and systemically oriented pilot 
project. The Duisburg Gateway Terminal thus forms a nucleus 
for the transformation process to be initiated while also, as a 
typical characteristic of the Port, offering ideal conditions for 
transfer of the knowledge gained to other ports. A sustainable 
energy system is planned to be installed at the terminal in 
the form of a smart microgrid (small-scale network of lines) 
that will interconnect renewable energies (PV systems, H2 
CHP system), energy storage systems (electrical, thermal, H2), 
consumers (shore power, charging stations, crane systems) 
and control them in an optimal way. It will also be able to 
supply adjacent quarters/neighboring residents.

In addition to the development and construction of the 
Duisburg Gateway Terminal, materials management is also 
allocated to the “Resources” field of action. For this purpose, 
duisport regularly examines more environmentally friendly 
alternatives with regard to raw materials, consumables, and 
supplies, as well as preliminary products currently in use.

V. Declaration on the publication of the declaration
of conformity with the public corporate governance
code and declaration on corporate governance

Since Duisburger Hafen AG is a company indirectly owned 
by the State of North Rhine-Westphalia, it falls within the 
scope of the Public Corporate Governance Code of the State 

of North Rhine-Westphalia. The Corporate Governance Report 
together with the Declaration of Compliance regarding the 
women’s quota in accordance with Section 289f (4) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) has been published on 
the duisport Group’s website at https://www.duisport.de/
unternehmen/unser-management/?lang=en

VI. Declaration pursuant to § 312 para. 3 ACT

In the legal transactions listed in the report on relations 
with affiliated companies, our company received appropriate 
consideration for each legal transaction according to the 
circumstances known to us at the time the legal transactions 
were carried out or the measures were taken or omitted. 

Duisburg, May 10, 2022

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft

The Board

Bangen Prof. Schlipköther Dr. Hinne
(Chairman)
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Assets 12/31/2021 12/31/2020

A. Fixed assets

 I.  Intangible assets

  1.  Purchased industrial property rights and similar rights  
and values, as well as licenses for such rights and values 1,591,535.13 2,036,897.70

  2. Goodwill 3,420,539.44 4,951,923.48

  3. Advance payments made 394,649.25 634,645.68

5,406,723.82 7,623,466.86

 II.  Property, plant and equipment

  1. Land and buildings 227,812,228.16 237,657,617.65

  2. Technical equipment and machinery 36,128,072.73 36,936,731.08

  3. Other equipment, operational and business equipment 13,962,498.36 13,590,398.22

  4. Advance payments made and assets under construction 19,579,083.68 4,314,217.38

297,481,882.93 292,498,964.33

 III.  Financial assets

  1. Participating interests

   a) in associated companies 15,619,738.65 14,473,763.07

   b) others 17,154,238.65 12,798,164.86

  2. Loans to companies in which investments are held 8,809,211.50 8,861,566.75

  3. Securities held as fixed assets 2,999,116.74 0.00

  4. Other loans 223,186.90 160,379.90

  5. Advance payments on financial assets 192,647.72 0.00

44,998,140.16 36,293,874.58

347,886,746.91 336,416,305.77

B. Current assets

 I.  Stock

  1. Raw materials, consumables and supplies 8,271,392.64 4,390,588.10

  2. Work in progress 3,220,606.38 3,578,662.88

  3. Finished goods and merchandise 977,244.13 1,057,170.61

  4. Advance payments made 0.00 9,383.09

12,469,243.15 9,035,804.68

 II.  Receivables and other assets

  1. Trade receivables 51,173,914.01 42,024,638.84

  2. Receivables from companies in which investments are held 1,003,882.93 1,140,815.17

  3. Other assets 10,675,104.10 7,436,152.57

62,852,901.04 50,601,606.58

 III.  Cash and bank balances 14,701,887.16 19,392,936.32

90,024,031.34 79,030,347.58

C. Deferred income 806,191.33 272,430.46

438,716,969.59 415,719,083.81

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2021 in EUR

Equity and liabilities 12/31/2021 12/31/2020

A. Equity

 I.  Subscribed capital 46,020,000.00 46,020,000.00

 II.  Capital reserve 1,533,875.64 1,533,875.64

 III.  Revenue reserves 

  1. Legal reserve 84,040,952.93 75,056,609.23

  2. Other revenue reserves 29,997,209.17 33,549,156.92

114,038,162.10 108,605,766.15

 IV.  Equity difference from currency conversion 90,743.69 −49,181.36

 V.  Consolidated net retained profit 22,181,162.81 13,483,633.52

 VI. Non-controlling shares 4,668,981.30 4,091,754.49

188,532,925.54 173,685,848.44

B. Goodwill from capital consolidation 28,636.42 28,636.42

C. Provisions

  1. Provisions for pensions 10,022,200.00 8,910,877.00

  2. Tax provisions 1,743,164.81 1,173,174.11

  3. Other provisions 45,064,902.53 42,556,811.65

56,830,267.34 52,640,862.76

D. Liabilities

  1. Liabilities to banks 147,484,251.16 147,120,440.52

  2. Advance payments received 1,137,257.50 1,084,701.58

  3. Trade payables 16,654,164.34 15,910,691.58

  4. Other liabilities 12,695,378.16 12,253,799.39

177,971,051.16 176,369,633.07

E. Deferred income 1,905,525.14 2,134,765.23

F. Deferred tax liabilities 13,448,563.99 10,859,337.89

438,716,969.59 415,719,083.81
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Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Consolidated income statement 2021 in EUR

12/31/2021 12/31/2020

1. Sales revenues 315,000,246.98 263,928,954.15

2.  Decrease in inventories of finished goods 
and works in progress −500,432.44 −2,647,175.11

3. Other own work capitalized 249,918.69 383,666.55

4. Other operating income 7,714,431.18 6,051,306.52

322,464,164.41 267,716,752.11

5. Cost of materials 149,120,780.90 107,669,577.72

6. Personnel expenses 69,675,214.51 66,985,427.87

7.  Amortization, depreciation, and write-downs of intangible fixed assets  
 and property, plant and equipment 18,754,903.01 19,687,519.40

8. Other operating expenses 49,810,381.24 48,602,975.59

 287,361,279.66 242,945,500.58

9. Income from equity investments 1,058,900.00 29,450.00

10. Income from associated companies 1,694,740.00 1,697,732.72

11. Income from loans of financial assets 269,432.92 255,582.62

12.  Write-downs of financial assets −4,780,018.77 −100,000.00

13. Interest result −3,831,136.88 −4,322,168.17

−5,588,082.73 −2,439,402.83

14. Result before taxes 29,514,802.01 22,331,848.70

15. Income taxes 9,006,145.79 6,535,455.43

16. Earnings after tax 20,508,656.22 15,796,393.27

17. Other taxes 1,647,954.19 1,639,854.89

18. Consolidated net profit 18,860,702.03 14,156,538.38

19. Profit attributable to minority interests −891,400.40 −720,359.51

20. Additions to/withdrawals from other revenue reserves 4,211,861.18 47,444.65

21. Consolidated net retained profit 22,181,162.81 13,483,623.52
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Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Statement of fixed assets 2021 in EUR – part 1/2

Appendix A to the condensed notes

Acquisition and production costs

1/1/2021

Additions from the
change in the

consolidation basis Additions Disposals

Currency
conversion
difference Transfers 12/31/2021

I. Intangible assets

1.  Self-generated industrial property rights 
and similar rights and values 412,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 412,000.00

2.  Purchased industrial property rights and 
similar rights and values, as well as licenses 
for such rights and values 11,881,908.23 0.00 1,276,824.98 63,889.96 534.52 0.00 13,095,377.77

3. Goodwill 23,767,122.95 0.00 232,430.76 9,000.00 0.00 0.00 23,990,553.71

4. Advance payments made 634,645.68 0.00 31,800.00 271,796.43 0.00 0.00 394,649.25

36,695,676.86 0.00 1,541,055.74 344,686.39 534.52 0.00 37,892,580.73

II. Property, plant and equipment

1.  Land and buildings

   Land, business/administration/residential buildings 349,578,415.49 −1,809,638.30 1,871,147.51 16,698,398.25 0.00 782,712.35 333,724,238.80

  Land in the dock area (fixed value) 32,156,412.28 0.00 2,090,499.87 0.00 0.00 5,577.00 34,252,489.15

 Road pavement 16,960,496.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16,960,496.18

  Train bridges, public road bridges and 
flood protection facilities 1,983,961.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,983,961.01

400,679,284.96 −1,809,638.30 3,961,647.38 16,698,398.25 0.00 788,289.35 386,921,185.14

2. Technical equipment and machinery

 Port equipment 47,267,888.12 0.00 1,127,250.69 69,653.53 0.00 408,683.40 48,734,168.68

 Port train facilities 37,845,375.43 0.00 281,067.64 3,285,699.51 −11,492.00 563,120.50 35,392,372.06

85,113,263.55 0.00 1,408,318.33 3,355,353.04 −11,492.00 971,803.90 84,126,540.74

3.  Other equipment, operational and business equipment 36,928,016.82 0.00 3,882,816.01 2,188,605.36 21,882.87 64,031.00 38,708,141.34

4.  Advance payments made and assets under construction 4,314,217.40 0.00 17,459,064.63 358,276.66 −11,797.44 −1,824,124.25 19,579,083.68

527,034,782.73 −1,809,638.30 26,711,846.35 22,600,633.31 −1,406.57 0.00 529,334,950.90

III. Financial assets

1. Participating interests

 a) in associated companies 14,610,124.14 0.00 1,152,225.58 6,250.00 0.00 0.00 15.756,099.72

 b) others 12,798,164.86 0.00 9,016,092.56 0.00 0.00 0.00 21,814,257.42

2.  Loans to companies in which 
investments are held 10,190,598.73 0.00 575,559.16 723,628.30 0.00 0.00 10,042,529.59

3. Securities held as fixed assets 0.00 0.00 3,162,354.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,162,354.64

4. Advance payments on financial assets 0.00 0.00 192,647.72 0.00 0.00 192,647.72

5. Other loans 160,379.90 0.00 59,549.00 159,979.90 0.00 59,949.00

37,759,267.63 0.00 14,158,428.66 889,858.20 0.00 0.00 51,027,838.09

601,489,727.22 −1,809,638.30 42,411,330.75 23,835,177.90 −872.05 0.00 618,255,369.72



39

AN N UAL FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS

38

AN N UAL REPORT 2021 OF TH E DU ISPORT GROU P

Appendix A to the condensed notes

Accumulated amortization, depreciation and write-downs   Net book values

1/1/2021

Additions from the
change in the

consolidation basis Additions Disposals
Write-

ups

Currency
conversion
difference 12/31/2021 12/31/2021 1/1/2020 (EUR K)

I. Intangible assets

1.  Self-generated industrial property rights 
and similar rights and values 412,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 412,000.00 0.00 0

2.  Purchased industrial property rights and 
similar rights and values, as well as licenses 
for such rights and values 9,845,010.53 0.00 1,720,105.71 61,598.07 0.00 324.47 11,503,842.64 1,591,535.13 2,037

3. Goodwill 18,815,199.47 0.00 1,754,814.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,570,014.27 3,420,539.44 4,952

4. Advance payments made 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 394,649.25 635

29,072,210.00 0.00 3,474,920.51 61,598.07 0.00 324.47 32,485,856.91 5,406,723.82 7,623

II. Property, plant and equipment

1.  Land and buildings

   Land, business/administration/residential buildings 134,201,394.44 0.00 7,960,820.40 12,751,452.78 0.00 0.00 129,410,762.06 204,313,476.74 215,377

  Land in the dock area (fixed value) 13,077,176.77 0.00 476,666.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 13,553,843.49 20,698,645.66 19,079

 Road pavement 14,162,408.87 0.00 380,057.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 14,542,466.04 2,418,030.14 2,798

  Train bridges, public road bridges and 
flood protection facilities 1,580,687.23 0.00 21,198.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,601,885.39 382,075.62 403

163,021,667.31 0.00 8,838,742.45 12,751,452.78 0.00 0.00 159,108,956.98 227,812,228.16 237,658

2. Technical equipment and machinery

 Port equipment 29,580,038.92 0.00 1,925,433.22 69,653.53 0.00 0.00 31,435,818.61 17,298,350.07 17,688

 Port train facilities 18,596,493.55 0.00 1,108,844.52 3,141,230.62 0.00 −1,458.05 16,562,649.40 18,829,722.66 19,249

48,176,532.47 0.00 3,034,277.74 3,210,884.15 0.00 −1,458.05 47,998,468.01 36,128,072.73 36,937

3.  Other equipment, operational and 
business equipment 23,337,618.62 0.00 3,406,962.31 2,014,195.56 0.00 15,257.61 24,745,642.98 13,962,498.36 13,591

4.  Advance payments made and assets 
under construction 0,00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 19,579,083.68 4,314

234,535,818.40 0.00 15,279,982.50 17,976,532.49 0.00 13,799.56 231,853,067.97 297,481,882.93 292,499

III. Financial assets

1. Participating interests

 a) in associated companies 136,361.07 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 136,361.07 15,619,738.65 14,474

 b) others 0.00 0.00 4,660,018.77 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,660,018.77 17,154,238.65 12,798

2.  Loans to companies in which 
investments are held 1,329,031.98 0.00 120,000.00 215,713.89 0.00 0.00 1,233,318.09 8,809,211.50 8,862

3. Securities held as fixed assets 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,162,354.64 0

4. Advance payments on financial assets 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 192,647.72 0

5. Other loans 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 59,949.00 161

1,465,393.05 0.00 4,780,018.77 215,713.89 0.00 0.00 6,029,697.93 44,998,140.16 36,294

265,073,421.45 0.00 23,534,921.78 18,253,844.45 0.00 14,124.03 270,368,622.81 347,886,746.91 336,416

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Statement of fixed assets 2021 in EUR – part 2/2
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Equity capital of the parent company Non-controlling shares Group equity

Reserves

Subscribed capital 
(common stock)

Capital
reserve

Legal
reserve

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Equity difference 
from currency

conversion

Group annual profit 
attributable to the 

parent company Total

Non-controlling 
shares before
annual result

Profits/Losses
attributable to 

non-controlling shares Total

12/31/2019 46,020,000.00 1,533,875.64 67,725,557.35 29,340,858.16 4,743.75 11,525,473.98 156,150,508.88 4,293,464.43 2,654,505.45 6,947,969.88 163,098,478.76

Changes to the
consolidation basis 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,780,446.41 0.00 0.00 3,780,446.41 0.00 −3,576,574.90 −3,576,574.90 203,871.51

Other changes 0.00 0.00 7,331,051.88 427,852.35 −53,925.11 −7,278,029.32 426,949.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 426,949.80

0.00 0.00 7,331,051.88 4,208,298.76 −53,925.11 −7,278,029.32 4,207,396.21 0.00 −3.576,574.90 −3,576,574.90 630,821.31

Consolidated net profit 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 13,436,188.86 13,436,188.86 0.00 720,359.51 720,359.51 14,156,548.37

Dividend distribution 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 −4,200,000.00 −4,200,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 −4,200,000.00

Overall Group result 0.00 0.00 7,331,051.88 4,208,298.76 −53,925.11 1,958,159.54 13,443,585.07 0.00 −2,856,215.39 −2,856,215.39 10,587,369.68

12/31/2020 46,020,000.00 1,533,875.64 75,056,609.23 33,549,156.92 −49,181.36 13,483,633.52 169,594,093.95 4,293,464.43 −201,709.94 4,091,754.49 173,685,848.44

Changes to the
consolidation basis 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other changes 0.00 0.00 8,984,343.70 −3,551,947.75 139,925.05 −4,771,772.34 800,548.66 0.00 −314,173.59 −314,173.59 486,375.07

0.00 0.00 8,984,343.70 −3,551,947.75 139,925.05 −4,771,772.34 800,548.66 0.00 −314,173.59 −314,173.59 486,375.07

Consolidated net profit 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 17,969,301.63 17,969,301.63 0.00 891,400.40 891,400.40 18,860,702.03

Dividend distribution 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 −4,500,000.00 −4,500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 −4,500,000.00

Overall Group result 0.00 0.00 8,984,343.70 −3,551,947.75 139,925.05 8,697,529.29 14,269,850.29 0.00 577,226.81 577,226.81 14,847,077.10

12/31/2021 46,020,000.00 1,533,875.64 84,040,952.93 29,997,209.17 90,743.69 22,181,162.81 183,863,944.24 4,293,464.43 375,516.87 4,668,981.30 188,532,925.54

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Development of Group equity for 2020 in EUR
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2021 2020

I.  Operating activities

1   Result for the period (consolidated net profit including profit shares of other shareholders) 18,868 14,157

2 +/−  Depreciation/amortization and write-ups of fixed assets 23,535 19,788

3 +/− Increase/decrease of provisions 2,826 174

4 +/− Other non-cash income and expenses −171 189

5 −/+   Increase/decrease of trade receivables and other assets not assigned 
to investing or financing activities −22,407 10,090

6 +/−  Increase/decrease in trade payables from supplies and services and other liabilities 
not assigned to investing or financing activities 6,059 −2,230

7 −/+ Profit/loss from the disposal of fixed assets −19,137 −1,972

8 +/− Interest income/expenses 3,558 4,167

9 − Other investment income −2,074 −1,327

10 +/− Income tax result 9,006 6,535

11 −/+ Income tax payments −3,562 −4,431

12 = Cash flow from current business operations 16,501 45,140

II.  Investing activities

13 + Cash received from the disposal of intangible fixed assets 14 0

14 − Cash paid for investments in intangible fixed assets −1,017 −2,111

15 + Cash received from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 23,514 2,271

16 − Cash paid for investments in property, plant and equipment −26,792 −19,375

17 + Cash received from the disposal of financial assets 1,280 2,405

18 − Cash paid for investments in financial assets −13,587 −17,388

19 + Cash received from disposals from the consolidated basis 0 −18

20 +  Cash received in connection with the short-term financial management of cash investments 0 0

21 −  Cash paid in connection with the short-term financial management of cash investments 0 0

22 + Interest received 585 889

23 + Dividends received 680 400

24 = Cash flow from investing activities −15,323 −32,927

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Consolidated cash flow statement for 2021 in EUR (thousands)

2021 2020

III.  Financing activities

25 + Cash received from the issue of bonds and from taking out (financial) loans 19,014 20,432

26 − Cash paid for the redemption of bonds and paying off (financial) loans −17,642 −22,555

27 + Cash received from subsidies/grants 2,126 691

28 − Interest paid −3,917 −4,384

29 − Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company −4,500 −4,200

30 − Dividends paid to other shareholders 0 0

31 = Cash flow from financing activities −4,919 −10,016

32   Change in cash and cash equivalents (totals 12, 24, 31) −3,741 2,197

33 +/− Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate and valuation 65 5

34 +/− Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in the consolidation basis −3 187

  Cash at the beginning of the year 19,393 15,559

  Short-term liabilities to banks at the beginning of the year 1,812 365

35  Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 17,581 15,194

  Cash at the end of the period 14,702 19,393

  Short-term liabilities to banks at the end of the period 801 1,812

36  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (total 32, 33, 34, 35) 13,901 17,581
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Assets 12/31/2021 12/31/2020

A. Fixed assets

 I.  Intangible assets

  1.  Purchased industrial property rights and similar rights and values  
and licenses for such rights and values 860,778.99 754,682.40

  2.  Advance payments made 346,949.25 618,745.68

1,207,728.24 1,373,428.08

 II.  Property, plant and equipment

  1. Land and buildings 77,403,293.45 78,591,248.09

  2. Technical equipment and machinery 7,718,248.08 7,693,950.08

  3. Other equipment, operational and business equipment 4,012,159.08 3,257,796.84

  4. Advance payments made and assets under construction 2,603,318.86 1,655,487.79

91,737,019.47 91,198,482.80

 III.  Financial assets

  1. Investments in affiliated companies 54,258,896.84 54,659,546.62

  2. Loans to affiliated companies 125,126,940.52 129,859,365.86

  3. Participating interests 29,816,411.94 26,456,893.06

  4.  Loans to companies in which investments are held 8,909,211.50 8,961,566.75

  5.  Long-term securities 2,999,116.74 0.00

  6.  Advance payments 29,183.00 0.00

221,139,760.54 219,937,372.29

314,084,508.25 312,509,283.17

B. Current assets

 I.  Stock

  1. Raw materials, consumables and supplies 19,527.82 11,238.28

  2. Unfinished services 0.00 977,292.34

  3. Goods 3,084.42 8,584.42

22,612.24 997,115.04

 II.  Receivables and other assets

  1. Trade receivables 729,040.91 596,528.11

  2. Receivables from affiliated companies 32,406,108.90 13,770,483.68

  3.  Receivables from companies in which 
investments are held 1,003,882.93 1,140,815.17

  4. Other assets 1,447,080.72 1,797,439.50

35,586,113.46 17,305,266.46

 III.  Cash and bank balances 7,418,769.58 11,270,571.00

43,027,495.28 29,572,952.50

C. Deferred income 410,323.41 47,880.00

357,522,326.94 342,130,115.67

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Balance sheet as of 31 December 2021 in EUR

Equity and liabilities 12/31/2021 12/31/2020

A. Equity

 I.  Subscribed capital 46,020,000.00 46,020,000.00

 II.  Capital reserve 1,533,875.64 1,533,875.64

 III.  Revenue reserves 

  1. Legal reserve 83,917,408.98 74,933,775.46

  2. Other revenue reserves 1,137,072.03 1,137,072.03

 IV.  Net retained profit 22,181,162.81 13,483,633.52

154,789,519.46 137,108,356.65

B. Special item with reserve portion pursuant to Section 6b EStG 19,375,361.11 19,375,361.11

C. Provisions

  1. Provisions for pensions 10,022,200.00 8,910,877.00

  2. Tax provisions 1,169,612.49 1,026,255.07

  3. Other provisions 14,266,277.02 14,683,496.12

25,458,089.51 24,620,628.19

D. Liabilities

  1. Liabilities to banks 141,629,710.69 139,448,326.28

  2. Trade payables 2,329,050.19 2,156,129.13

  3. Liabilities to affiliated companies 7,238,974.30 14,363,694.17

  4. Other liabilities 2,332,709.03 4,601,739.62

153,530,444.21 160,569,889.20

E. Deferred income 427,465.91 455,880.52

F. Deferred tax liabilities 3,941,446.74 0.00

357,522,326.94 342,130,115.67



47

AN N UAL FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS

46

AN N UAL REPORT 2021 OF TH E DU ISPORT GROU P

2021 2020

1.  Sales revenues 47,155,236.79 46,136,825.65

2. Decrease (previous year: increase) in inventories of unfinished services −977,292.34 −283,202.00

3. Other own work capitalized 1,007.00 3,666.55

4. Other operating income 5,373,614.74 3,769,759.83

51,552,566.19 49,627,050.03

5. Cost of materials 4,166,069.15 4,704,422.28

6. Personnel expenses 22,201,239.87 19,193,611.41

7.   Amortization, depreciation, and write-downs of intangible fixed assets 
and property, plant and equipment 4,254,464.80 3,703,028.34

8. Other operating expenses 20,485,475.78 16,652,603.80

51,107,249.60 44,253,665.83

9.  Income from participations 31,248,280.08 10,574,249.92

10.  Income from loans of financial assets 7,693,456.60 7,231,593.40

11. Interest result −3,013,062.96 −3,107,404.94

12. Write-downs of financial assets 5,130,018.77 100,000.00

30,798,654.95 14,598,438.38

13. Result before taxes 31,243,971.54 19,971,822.58

14. Income taxes 8,379,714.81 5,770,082.92

15. Earnings after tax 22,864,256.73 14,201,739.66

16. Other taxes 683,093.92 718,106.14

17. Annual profit = net earnings 22,181,162.81 13,483,633.52

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Income statement 2020 in EUR
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Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Participations as of 31 December 2021

Appendix C to the Notes / 1

1.  Consolidation basis

 Name and registered office of company

Consoli-
dation
status1

Share in 
capital

%

Equity
capital

in EUR K

 Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg

 Hafen Duisburg-Rheinhausen GmbH, Duisburg2, 3 V 100.00 21,767

 duisport agency GmbH, Duisburg2, 3 V 100.00 260

 dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH, Duisburg2, 3 V 100.00 172

 duisport rail GmbH, Duisburg2, 3 V 100.00 100

 LOGPORT Logistic-Center Duisburg GmbH, Duisburg V 100.00 499

 duisport consult GmbH, Duisburg V 100.00 1,192

 Navigare Stauerei- und Speditions GmbH, Duisburg V 100.00 866

 startport GmbH, Duisburg V 100.00 65

 Bohnen Logistik GmbH & Co. KG, Duisburg (formerly Niederkrüchten) V 100.00 364

 RBL Reiner Bohnen Logistik GmbH, Duisburg (formerly Niederkrüchten) V 100.00 1,095

 BVG Verwaltungs-GmbH, Duisburg (formerly Niederkrüchten) V 100.00 39

 duisport packing logistics GmbH, Duisburg V 100.00 16,049

 dpl International N.V., Antwerp/Belgium V 100.00 256

 duisport industrial packing service (Wuxi) Co., Ltd., Wuxi/China V 100.00 833

 POLO KNOW-HOW Industrie-Engineering GmbH, Rastede N 100.00 54

 Duisport Agency Polska Sp.z o.o., Warsaw/Poland V 95.00 4

 duisport packing logistics India Pvt. Ltd., Pune/India V 88.00 −303

 BREEZE Industrial Packing GmbH, Hamburg V 70.00 829

 dpl Chemnitz GmbH, Chemnitz2, 3 V 66.67 4,595

 dpl Weinzierl Verpackungen GmbH, Sinzing V 66.67 4,064

 Holz Weinzierl Fertigungen GmbH & Co. KG, Sinzing V 66.67 1,378

 Weinzierl Beteiligungs-GmbH, Sinzing V 66.67 45

 Hafen Duisburg/Amsterdam Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg V 66.00 46

 Emballages Industriels, Logistique & Services SAS, Erstein/France4 V 50.00 1,514

 Umschlag Terminal Marl GmbH & Co. KG, Marl4 V 50.00 363

 Umschlag Terminal Marl Verwaltungs-GmbH, Marl4 V 50.00 30

 Distri Rail B.V., Rhoon/The Netherlands4 V 50.00 295

 logport ruhr GmbH, Duisburg Q 50.00 2,679

 dev.log GmbH, Niederkassel Q 50.00 732

 MASSLOG GmbH, Duisburg Q 50.00 1,061

 myGermany-Store powered by duisport GmbH, Duisburg Q 50.00 −143

 Multimodal Investments Pte., Ltd., Singapore/Singapore N 50.00 27,713

1 The companies marked with V are included in the consolidated financial statements in line with full consolidation. 
 The companies marked with Q are included in the consolidated financial statements on a proportional basis. 
 The companies marked with N were entered at acquisition cost due to their minor importance according to Section 311 (2) HGB. 
2 Control and profit/loss transfer agreement.
3 The company utilizes the exemption provision of Section 264 (3) HGB.
4 Controlling influence exercised pursuant to Section 290 (2) HGB.
5 The companies marked with E were included in the consolidated financial statements at equity. 
 Shareholdings marked with N were entered at acquisition costs pursuant to Section 311 (2) HGB due to their minor importance.
6 Data from 2020.

Appendix C to the Notes / 2

2. Associated companies

 Name and registered office of company

Consoli-
dation
status5

Share in
capital

%

Equity
capital

in EUR K

 Eurasian Rail Gateway CJCS, Minsk/Belarus5 N 38.90 1,407

 Heavylift Terminal Duisburg GmbH, Duisburg E 34.56 −973

 Railport Terminal İşletmeleri A.Ş., Kocaeli/Turkey N 33.00 147

 Duisburg Gateway Terminal GmbH, Duisburg E 30.00 −398

 DIG Duisburger Infrastrukturgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg E 24.90 101

 DIT Duisburg Intermodal Terminal GmbH, Duisburg E 24.00 10,333

 Duisburg Trimodal Terminal GmbH, Duisburg N 20.00 1,580

3. Other investments

 Name and registered office of company

Share in
capital

%

Equity
capital

in EUR K

 DeCeTe Duisburger Container-Terminalgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg 18.88 632

 Interporto di Trieste S.p.A., Monrupino/Italy 16.00 23,873

 Antwerp Gateway N.V., Antwerp/Belgium 10.00 47,960

 Cargobeamer AG, Leipzig6 0.79 54,864

 China-Belarus Industrial Park Development Company CJCS, Minsk/Belarus 0.51 63,767
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Acquisition and production costs Accumulated amortization, depreciation and write-downs       Net book values

1/1/2021 Additions Disposals Transfers 12/31/2021 1/1/2021 Additions Disposals Write-ups 12/31/2021 12/31/2021
12/31/2020 

 (EUR K)

I. Intangible assets

1. Purchased industrial property 
 rights and similar rights and values 4,805,463.60 265,931.63 0.00 602,995.68 5,674,390.91 4,050,781.20 762,830.72 0.00 0.00 4,813,611.92 860,778.99 755

2.  Advance payments made 618,745.68 331,199.25 0.00 −602,995.68 346,949.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 346,949.25 619

5,424,209.28 597,130.88 0.00 0.00 6,021,340.16 4,050,781.20 762,830.72 0.00 0.00 4,813,611.92 1,207,728.24 1,373

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Land and buildings

  Land, business/administration/ 
residential buildings 129,855,871.34 237,632.16 696,081.75 425,000.00 129,822,421.75 68,270,279.31 1,681,986.55 695,387.23 0.00 69,256,878.63 60,565,543.12 61,586

 Land in the dock area (fixed value) 20,110,336.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,110,336.01 4,556,926.52 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,556,926.52 15,553,409.49 15,553

 Road pavement 11,316,687.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,316,687.34 10,201,761.60 150,193.57 0.00 0.00 10,351,955.17 964,732.17 1,115

  Train bridges, public road bridges 
and flood protection facilities 1,868,335.06 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,868,335.06 1,531,014.23 17,712.16 0.00 0.00 1,548,726.39 319,608.67 337

2. Technical equipment and machinery

 Port equipment 20,590,603.33 333,251.83 61,355.03 408,683.40 21,271,183.53 17,421,530.48 453,842.70 61,355.03 0.00 17,814,018.15 3,457,165.38 3,169

 Port train facilities 8,929,641.78 0.00 145,682.88 0.00 8,783,958.90 4,404,764.55 118,111.65 0.00 0.00 4,522,876.20 4,261,082.70 4,525

3.  Other equipment, operational and 
business equipment 10,378,179.03 1,438,784.31 15,623.17 0.00 11,801,340.17 7,120,382.19 682,808.77 14,009.87 0.00 7,789,181.09 4,012,159.08 3,258

4.  Advance payments made and assets 
under construction 1,655,487.79 2,176,220.65 7,727.50 −833,683.40 2,990,297.54 0.00 386,978.68 0.00 0.00 386,978.68 2,603,318.86 1,655

204,705,141.68 4,185,888.95 926,470.33 0.00 207,964,560.30 113,506,658.88 3,491,634.08 770,752.13 0.00 116,227,540.83 91,737,019.47 91,198

III. Financial assets

1. Investments in affiliated companies 55,055,275.30 313,464.72 2,482,878.00 1,768,763.50 54,654,625.52 395,728.68 0.00 0.00 0.00 395,728.68 54,258,896.84 54,659

2.  Loans to affiliated companies 130,104,220.57 1,459,404.39 5,427,544.73 −414,285.00 125,721,795.23 244,854.71 350.000.00 0.00 0.00 594,854.71 125,126,940.52 129,859

3. Participating interests 26,534,095.67 9,374,016.15 0.00 −1,354,478.50 34,553,633.32 77,202.61 4,660,018.77 0.00 0.00 4,737,221.38 29,816,411.94 26,457

4.  Loans to companies in which 
investments are held 10,951,146.37 573,663.33 721,732.47 0.00 10,803,077.23 1,989,579.62 120.000.00 0.00 215,713.89 1,893,865.73 8,909,211.50 8,962

5. Securities held as fixed assets 0.00 2,999,116.74 0.00 0.00 2,999,116.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,999,116.74 0

6. Prepayments made 0.00 29,183.00 0.00 0.00 29,183.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 29,183.00 0

222,644,737.91 14,748,848.33 8,632,155.20 0.00 228,761,431.04 2,707,365.62 5,130,018.77 0.00 215,713.89 7,621,670.50 221,139,760.54 219,937

432,774,088.87 19,531,868.16 9,558,625.53 0.00 442,747,331.50 120,264,805.70 9,384,483.57 770,752.13 215,713.89 128,662,823.25 314,084,508.25 312,509

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg – Statement of fixed assets 2021 in EUR
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Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg
Notes to the consolidated financial statements and
notes for 2021

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft (Duisburger Hafen AG or 
duisport) has its registered office in Duisburg. The Company 
is entered in the register of the Duisburg Local Court under 
number HRB 180.

Duisburger Hafen AG and its subsidiaries prepare consolidated 
financial statements and a consolidated management report 
as of December 31, 2021 in accordance with Section 290 of 
the German Commercial Code. The consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting 
provisions of the Commercial Code and the supplementary 
provisions of the Stock Corporation Act and for the smallest 
group of companies. Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft des 
Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen mbH, Düsseldorf, as the parent 
company of duisport, prepares the consolidated financial 
statements for the largest group of companies in which the 
Company is included. The consolidated financial statements 
are published in the Federal Gazette.

The subsidiary duisport packing logistics GmbH does not 
prepare subgroup financial statements and thus makes use 
of the exemption requirements of Section 291 HGB.

Duisburger Hafen AG, as the parent company, has exercised 
its option under Section 298 (2) HGB to combine the notes to 
the financial statements and the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of the German Commercial Code in the version 

applicable as of December 31, 2021 and the supplementary 
provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and 
the Articles of Association. 

The income statement has been prepared using the nature 
of expense method.

As of December 31, 2021, a total of 26 (previous year: 27) 
subsidiaries are fully consolidated and 4 (previous year: 4) 
proportionately consolidated in addition to Duisburger Hafen 
AG. The fully consolidated subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements and the proportionately 
consolidated joint ventures report as of December 31.

Duisburger Hafen AG and its subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements of Beteiligungsverwaltungs-
gesellschaft des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen mbH, Düssel-
dorf, which prepares the consolidated financial statements 
for the largest group of companies. These are published in 
the Federal Gazette.

In order to improve the clarity of presentation, disclosures 
relating to other items and notes thereon are made in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements and the notes 
to the financial statements. In addition, individual items of 
the income statement have been combined. These items are 
explained separately in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements and the notes to the financial statements.

Society
Fully consolidated companies

Capital share
%

Own capital 
12/31/2021 EUR K

Port of Duisburg-Rheinhausen GmbH, Duisburg (HDR) 100 21,767

duisport agency GmbH, Duisburg (dpa) 100 260

dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH, Duisburg (dfl) 100 172

duisport rail GmbH, Duisburg (dpr) 100 100

LOGPORT Logistic-Center Duisburg GmbH, Duisburg (LOGPORT) 100 499

duisport consult GmbH, Duisburg (dpc) 100 1,192

Navigare Stauerei- und Speditions GmbH, Duisburg (Navigare) 100 866

startport GmbH, Duisburg (startport) 100 65

Bohnen Logistik GmbH & Co. KG, Duisburg (BL) 100 364

RBL Reiner Bohnen Logistik GmbH, Duisburg (RBL) 100 1,095

BVG Verwaltungs GmbH, Duisburg (BVG) 100 39

duisport packing logistics GmbH, Duisburg (dpl GmbH) 100 16,049

dpl International N.V., Antwerp/Belgium, (dpl International) 100 256

duisport industrial packing service (Wuxi) Co. Ltd., Wuxi/China (dpl China) 100 833

Duisport Agency Polska Sp.z o.o., Warsaw/Poland (dpa Polska) 95 4

duisport packing logistics India Pvt. Ltd., Pune/India (dpl India) 88 −303

BREEZE Industrial Packing GmbH, Hamburg (BREEZE) 70 829

dpl Chemnitz GmbH, Chemnitz (dpl Chemnitz) 66.67 4,595

dpl Weinzierl Verpackungen GmbH, Sinzing (dpl WV) 66.67 4,064

Holz Weinzierl Fertigungen GmbH & Co. KG, Sinzing (HWF) 66.67 1,378

Weinzierl Beteiligungs-GmbH, Sinzing (Weinzierl participation) 66.67 45

Hafen Duisburg/Amsterdam Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg (HDA) 66 46

Emballages Industriels, Logistique & Services SAS, Erstein/France (EILS)1 50 1,514

Umschlag Terminal Marl GmbH & Co. KG, Marl (UTM GmbH & Co. KG)1 50 363

Umschlag Terminal Marl Verwaltungs-GmbH, Marl (UTM Verw.)1 50 30

Distri Rail B.V., Rhoon/The Netherlands (DistriRail)1 50 295

Proportionately consolidated companies

logport ruhr GmbH, Duisburg (lpr) 50 2,679

dev.log GmbH, Niederkassel (dev.log) 50 732

MASSLOG GmbH, Duisburg (Masslog) 50 1,061

myGermany-Store powered by duisport GmbH, Duisburg (myGermany) 50 −143

Companies accounted for using the equity method

Heavylift Terminal Duisburg GmbH, Duisburg (HTD) 34.56 −973

Duisburg Gateway Terminal GmbH, Duisburg (DGT) 30 −398

DIT Duisburg Intermodal Terminal GmbH, Duisburg (DIT) 24 10,333

DIG Duisburger Infrastrukturgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg (DIG) 24.9 101

I. Scope of consolidation

1 Control is exercised in accordance with section 290 (1) HGB on the basis of de facto control.
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A complete list of shareholdings pursuant to Section 285 No. 
11 HGB and Section 313 (2) HGB is presented in Annex C to the 
Notes and is published electronically in the Federal Gazette.

In September 2020, Duisburger Hafen AG and myGermany 
GmbH from Weimar founded the joint venture myGerma-
ny-Store powered by duisport GmbH. The two shareholders 
each hold 50% of the shares in this company. Effective January 
1, 2021, the company will be included in the consolidated 
financial statements of duisport on a proportionate consol-
idation basis.

Effective January 1, 2021, all shares in Grundstücksgesellschaft 
Südhafen mbH were sold. The company was deconsolidated 
as of January 1, 2021.

A further domestic company and three foreign companies over 
whose financial and business policies significant influence 
can be exercised due to a share of voting rights between 
20% and 50% are not included in the consolidated financial 
statements due to their minor significance in accordance 
with Section 311 (2) HGB.

Since December 20, 2012, HDR has held 99.9% of the shares 
in MOLANKA Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt 
Duisport KG, Düsseldorf. This is a property company that 
is not included in the consolidated financial statements of 
duisport because neither the requirements of Section 290 (1) 
HGB in conjunction with (2) No. 1-3 nor those of No. 4 HGB 
are met. The company reports equity of EUR 1,993,000 and 
net income of EUR 369,000 as of December 31, 2021.

II. Consolidation principles

Capital consolidation for subsidiaries consolidated for the 
first time before January 1, 2010 has been performed using 
the book value method on the basis of the valuations at the 
time of the initial inclusion of the subsidiary in the consoli-
dated financial statements. Any differences on the assets side 
arising in this connection have been offset against retained 
earnings in accordance with Section 309 (1) sentence 3 HGB 
(old version).

Capital consolidation for companies or for acquired equity 
interests consolidated for the first time after January 1, 2010 
was performed using the revaluation method at the time of 
acquisition. The amounts to be capitalized were allocated 
to the relevant asset items as far as possible. Any remaining 

positive difference is capitalized as goodwill and amortized 
over its expected useful life. 

Joint ventures are consolidated according to the same prin-
ciples.

As part of the initial consolidation of the Bohnen Group, 
hidden reserves were identified as part of a purchase price 
allocation and allocated to the acquired assets, taking deferred 
taxes into account. The remaining difference of EUR 2,398 
thousand was capitalized as goodwill and will be amortized 
over its expected useful life of ten years.

The initial consolidation of dpl WV in 2013 resulted in a 
goodwill of EUR 253,000 and the initial consolidation of HWF 
resulted in a goodwill of EUR 791,000. As part of contractually 
agreed purchase price adjustments, the goodwill of dpl WV 
was increased to EUR 424,000 and the goodwill of HWF was 
reduced to EUR 629,000 in the 2018 financial year. Further 
differences of EUR 66,000 result from the first-time consoli-
dation of dpl India in 2013, of EILS in 2019 in the amount of 
EUR 405,000, and of BREEZE in 2015 in the amount of EUR 
320,000. The differences are each amortized over the expected 
useful life of five years.

Duisburger Hafen AG holds 34.56% of the shares in 
HTD. The company is included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements at equity. Pursuant to Section 312 (1) 
HGB, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment and the pro rata equity amounts to  
EUR -334,000.

Duisburger Hafen AG has held 50% of the shares in DistriRail 
since the 2020 financial year. The company has been fully 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements since 
September 1, 2020. The difference arising from the increase 
amounts to EUR 961,000 and will be amortized over a period 
of five years.

The difference of the company DIT, which is included in the 
consolidated financial statements at equity in accordance 
with Section 312 (1) HGB, amounts to EUR 1,056,000.

Negative goodwill arising from the consolidation of invest-
ments is shown separately under equity. A negative goodwill 
of EUR 29,000 was recognized from the initial consolidation 
of dpa Polska. 

Sales, expenses, and income as well as existing receivables 
and liabilities between consolidated subsidiaries have been 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The same 
applies to the special tax-allowable reserve in accordance 
with Section 6b of the German Income Tax Act (EStG) and the 
special tax depreciation in accordance with Section 6b EStG.

Deferred taxes have been recognized on consolidation entries 
that give rise to differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets, liabilities or prepaid expenses for financial report-
ing purposes and their tax bases. Deferred taxes have been 
recognized on consolidation entries resulting in differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities or prepaid 
expenses for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. 
These were calculated using a Group tax rate of 34.2%.

For shares in the net assets and net income of the consoli-
dated subsidiaries HDA, UTM GmbH & Co. KG, UTM Verw., dpl 
India, dpa Polska, dpl Chemnitz, EILS, Weinzierl Beteiligung, 
dpl WV, BREEZE, DistriRail, and HWF that are not attributable 
to the parent company or another consolidated company, 
a corresponding adjustment item for minority interests is 
recognized as “non-controlling interests” within equity. The 
latter generally participates in the consolidation measures 
recognized in profit or loss.

Retained earnings are reported in the consolidated financial 
statements in the same amount as in the parent company’s 
financial statements. For this purpose, the net retained profits 
of the subsidiaries and other consolidation adjustments were 
offset against the Group’s retained earnings. This resulted 
in a reduction in Group reserves of EUR 4,212,000 in the 
financial year.

Companies included at equity in the consolidated financial 
statements are accounted for using the equity method in 
accordance with Section 312 of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) by offsetting the carrying amount of the investment 
against the pro rata equity of the respective company. The 
capital was offset using the book value method as of the date 
of acquisition of the shares.

III. Accounting policies and changes therein

The financial statements of Duisburger Hafen AG as the parent 
company and of the consolidated subsidiaries to be consol-
idated are prepared in accordance with uniform accounting 
and valuation rules which have been applied consistently.

Intangible fixed assets and property, plant, and equipment 
are valued at acquisition or production cost less scheduled 
and unscheduled depreciation. Investment grants received are 
taken into account by reducing the acquisition or production 
cost of the corresponding asset by the amount of the grant.

The scheduled amortization of goodwill resulting from the 
acquisition of the business operations of the current dpl 
GmbH and dpl Chemnitz via asset deal is performed on a 
straight-line basis over 15 years on the basis of the estimate 
relating to the durability of the business relationships acquired.

The goodwill arising from the initial consolidation of EILS, 
DistriRail, and Navigare is being amortized on a straight-line 
basis over five years. This expected useful life corresponds 
to the acquired production technologies and reflects the 
earnings prospects of the acquired customer relationships. 
The other intangible assets are also amortized on a straight-
line basis over five years.

Goodwill arising from the initial consolidation of the compa-
nies of the Bohnen Group and from the acquisition of a site 
at dpl Chemnitz is amortized on a straight-line basis over ten 
years. This expected useful economic life corresponds to the 
acquired production technologies and reflects the earnings 
prospects of the acquired customer relationships.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful life of the asset. In addition, transfers were 
made in the annual financial statements in previous years in 
accordance with the tax regulations under Section 6b of the 
German Income Tax Act (EStG), which, insofar as they relate to 
land, are shown on the liabilities side under the special item 
with an equity portion and have been reduced on the assets 
side in the case of buildings. In the consolidated financial 
statements, the special tax-allowable reserves in accordance 
with Section 6b EStG and the tax depreciation are eliminated.
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The following useful lives were applied to property, plant 
and equipment:

project management. The work in progress of Duisburger 
Hafen AG relates to work in progress on project management 
contracts. It is capitalized at production cost in accordance 
with Section 255 (2) HGB. Production costs include direct 
costs and an appropriate share of material overheads, pro-
duction overheads, and consumption of fixed assets caused 
by production.

Receivables, other assets, and cash and cash equivalents 
are carried at their nominal values. All identifiable individual 
risks and the general credit risk based on past experience are 
taken into account in these items by means of appropriate 
write-downs.

Prepaid expenses are expenses incurred prior to the balance 
sheet date that represent expenses for a certain period after 
that date. In addition, the differences between the repayment 
amount and the amount available (discount) are recognized 
as prepaid expenses and amortized over the term of the loan.

In accordance with Section 253 (2) Sentence 2 HGB, accruals 
for retirement benefit obligations or comparable long-term 
obligations are discounted at a flat rate using the average 
market interest rate for the last ten years as determined by 
the Deutsche Bundesbank, based on an assumed remaining 
term of 15 years.

Provisions for pensions are calculated in accordance with 
recognized actuarial principles using the projected unit credit 
method. The biometric factors are taken into account in 
accordance with actuarial principles using the “Richttafeln 
2018 G” mortality tables by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck. For dis-
counting purposes, an average remaining term of 15 years 
was assumed as a general rule. The average market interest 
rate of the past ten years was calculated and applied in the 
amount of 1.87% p.a. (previous year: average market inter-
est rate of the past ten years of 2.3% p.a.). Expected salary 
increases were taken into account at 2.5% and expected 
pension increases at 1.75%.

The difference between the amount recognized for pension 
accruals based on the corresponding average market interest 
rate over the past ten financial years and the amount recog-
nized for the accrual based on the corresponding average 
market interest rate over the past seven financial years in 

accordance with Section 253 (6) HGB amounts to EUR 579,000 
in both the annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements (previous year: EUR 723,000). Profits may 
only be distributed if the freely available reserves remaining 
after distribution plus any profit carried forward and less any 
loss carried forward at least equal this difference.

Tax accruals and other accruals are recognized at the set-
tlement amount required according to prudent business 
judgment and taking into account anticipated losses from 
pending transactions. Cost increases were taken into account 
when measuring the settlement amount. Other accrued 
liabilities include around 35% (annual financial statements: 
49%) accruals for restoration obligations, legal obligations, and 
subsidy repayments. A further approx. 21% (annual financial 
statements: 9%) relate to provisions for construction and 
maintenance measures. Around 9% (annual financial state-
ments: 16%) of other accruals relate to personnel accruals and 
a further 27% (annual financial statements: 5%) to accruals for 
outstanding purchase invoices. Other accrued liabilities with 
a term of more than one year are discounted using interest 
rates appropriate to the period as published by the Deutsche 
Bundesbank. In application of the option granted by Art. 67 
(3) of the Introductory Act to the German Commercial Code 
(EGHGB), provisions in accordance with Section 249 (2) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) in the version applicable until 
May 28, 2008 totaling EUR 5,904,000 (of which Duisburger 
Hafen AG: EUR 711,000) were retained as of December 31, 
2021 (expense provisions).

Liabilities are recognized at the settlement amount.

Deferred income is income recognized on the liabilities side 
before the balance sheet date if it represents income for a 
certain period after that date.

Deferred taxes are calculated for temporary differences 
between the commercial and tax valuations of assets, liabil-
ities, and prepaid expenses. In the case of Duisburger Hafen 
AG, this includes not only the differences arising from its 
own balance sheet items but also those existing at subsid-
iaries and partnerships in which Duisburger Hafen AG is a 
shareholder. In addition to temporary accounting differences, 
tax loss carryforwards are taken into account. In the Group, 
differences resulting from consolidation measures in accor-

dance with Sections 300 to 307 of the Commercial Code are 
also taken into account, but not differences resulting from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or negative goodwill from 
capital consolidation. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the combined 
income tax rate of the Duisburger Hafen AG tax group of 
currently 34.2%. The combined income tax rate comprises 
corporate income tax, trade tax and solidarity surcharge. In 
contrast, deferred taxes arising from temporary accounting 
differences in the case of investments in the legal form of a 
partnership are calculated on the basis of a combined income 
tax rate which only includes corporation tax and the solidarity 
surcharge; this currently amounts to approximately 16%. Any 
resulting overall tax charge would be recognized as a deferred 
tax liability in the balance sheet.

Derivative financial instruments are used exclusively to reduce 
risk. They are used in accordance with the relevant Group 
guidelines. They are valued individually at acquisition cost or 
at the lower fair value (= market value) on the reporting date. 
If the requirements for the formation of valuation units are 
generally met, the hedging and underlying transactions are 
combined to form a valuation unit. In cases where both the 
“freezing method,” under which the offsetting changes in 
value from the hedged risk are not recognized, and the “gross 
hedge presentation method,” under which the offsetting 
cash flows from the hedged risk of both the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument are recognized, can be applied, 
the freezing method is used. The offsetting positive and 
negative changes in value are recognized without affecting 
the income statement.

IV. Currency translation in the consolidated 
financial statements

With the exception of equity (subscribed capital, reserves, 
profit/loss carried forward at historical rates), the asset and 
liability items in the financial statements prepared in foreign 
currencies have been translated into euros at the average spot 
exchange rate on the reporting date. Income statement items 
are translated into euros at the average exchange rate. The 
resulting translation difference is shown within consolidated 
equity after reserves under the item “Equity difference from 
currency translation.”
 

Years

Buildings up to 50

Technical equipment and machinery 5 to 18 

Other equipment, factory, and office 
equipment 3 to 12

Self-produced property, plant and equipment are capitalized 
at cost in accordance with Section 255 (2) sentences 1 and 
2 HGB and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
expected useful lives or, in the event of an expected perma-
nent impairment, on a non-scheduled basis.

Assets with acquisition or production costs up to a net 
individual value of EUR 800.00 (low-value assets) were fully 
depreciated or expensed in the year of acquisition. For low-
value assets with acquisition or production costs between 
EUR 251.00 and EUR 800.00, a collective item was formed 
for acquisitions up to the end of the 2017 financial year; this 
was reversed to income over a period of five years. Assets 
with acquisition or production costs between EUR 801.00 
and EUR 1,000.00 are depreciated in accordance with their 
expected useful life. 

The size, value, and structure of the port basins, including 
bank reinforcements and the port railroad superstructure, are 
subject to only minor changes in the port area on the right 
bank of the Rhine and are therefore stated at fixed values.

Financial assets are valued at acquisition cost, taking into 
account the lower of cost or market principle in the event of 
permanent impairment. Participating interests and inter-
est-bearing loans to companies in which a participating 
interest is held are stated at nominal value less specific 
valuation allowances. Loans to affiliated companies include 
loans with a term of more than five years.

Raw materials and supplies are valued at average acquisition 
cost, taking into account the lower of cost or market princi-
ple. The Group’s finished goods and work in progress relate 
to orders in progress in the area of packaging services and 
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V. Notes to the balance sheet

1. Fixed assets
The development of the Group’s and the parent company’s 
non-current assets is shown in a statement of changes in 
non-current assets. The statement of changes in non-cur-
rent assets of the Group can be found in Annex A and that 
of the parent company in Annex B to these notes. The list of 
shareholdings is attached as Annex C.

2a. Receivables and other assets – Group

in EUR (thousands) 12/31/2021 12/31/2020 

Supplies and services 729 597

Affiliated companies 32,406 13,770

Shareholdings 1,004 1,141

Other assets 1,447 1,797

Total 35,586 17,305
Designation EUR K

Difference from discounting of pension accruals 
at the average market interest rate of the past 
10 years vs. 7 years 579

Amount blocked for distribution in accordance with 
Section 253 (6) HGB 579

As in the previous year, all receivables are due within one year.

There are no restrictions on ownership or disposal for the 
receivables reported. Valuation allowances of EUR 574,000 
(previous year: EUR 718,000) were recognized.

Receivables from affiliated companies include EUR 5,956,000 
(previous year: EUR 7,903,000) from cash pooling with various 
subsidiaries and EUR 27,726,000 (previous year: EUR 7,164,000) 
from the Company’s trade transactions. These were offset 

against liabilities in the amount of EUR 1,276,000 as part of 
the offsetting of balances within the Group. As in the pre-
vious year, receivables from investments consist exclusively 
of trade receivables.

3. Prepaid expenses – Group
The Group’s prepaid expenses exclusively comprise payments 
made in advance.

4. Equity – Group and AG
The subscribed capital of EUR 46,020,000 and the capital 
reserve of EUR 1,534,000 in the Group correspond to the 
balance sheet items reported at the parent company. 

In addition to those of the parent company, the Group’s 
revenue reserves include the revenue reserves and retained 
earnings of the affiliated companies included in the Group. 
In addition, equity includes amounts from the offsetting of 
other consolidation measures.

The Group’s retained earnings correspond to those of the 
parent company.

In 2021, Duisburger Hafen AG made a profit distribution for 
the 2020 financial year in the amount of EUR 4,500,000 to 
the shareholders. The remaining unappropriated profit of EUR 
8,984,000 was transferred to the legal reserve.
Parts of the equity shown in the annual financial statements 
of duisport, which is in principle freely available, are subject to 
the distribution restriction of Section 253 (6) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB).

in TEUR
Group 

12/31/2021
Group 

12/31/2020
AG 

12/31/2021
AG 

12/31/202

Tax valuation allowances
Pursuant to Sec. 6b (1) EStG 0 0 19,375 19,375

Total 0 0 19,375 19,375

in EUR (thousands) 12/31/2021 12/31/2020 

Supplies and services 51,174 42,025

Shareholdings 1,004 1,141

Other assets 10,675 7,436

Total 62,853 50,602

Of the trade receivables, EUR 609,000 have a remaining term 
of more than one year (previous year: EUR 664,000). As in the 
previous year, receivables from investments consist exclusively 
of trade receivables.

2b. Receivables and other assets – AG

5. Special items with an equity portion – Group and AG

The Company has made use of the option to retain special 
tax-allowable reserves in the annual financial statements in 
accordance with Article 67 (3) sentence 1 of the Introduc-
tory Act to the German Commercial Code (EGHGB). The spe-
cial tax-allowable reserves are shown as liabilities in the bal-
ance sheet of Duisburger Hafen AG. These special tax items 
with an equity portion are eliminated in the consolidated 
financial statements.

6. Tax accruals – Group and AG
The tax provisions mainly relate to corporate income tax and 
trade tax for the financial years 2021 and 2020 as well as a 
provision for follow-up effects of the last tax audit for the 
years 2014 to 2017.

7. Other accruals – Group and AG
Other accruals mainly relate to uncertain obligations to third 
parties and deferred maintenance. Provisions for employee 
costs are recognized for bonuses, allowances, obligations for 
unused vacation, long-service awards and similar obligations. 
The other accruals relate to a large number of identifiable 
individual risks.
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in EUR (thousands) 12/31/2021
Remaining term 

up to 1 year
Residual term 

over 1 year
thereof 

over 5 years

Credit institutions 147,484 79,577 67,907 31,547

 (previous year) (147,120) (70,987) (76,133) (40,230)

Advance payments received 1,137 1,137 0 0

 (previous year) (1,085) (1,085) 0 0

Deliveries/Services 16,654 16,654 0 0

 (previous year) (15,911) (15,911) 0 0

Other liabilities 12,695 12,695 0 0

 (previous year) (12,254) (12,254) 0 0

   thereof from taxes 2,949 2,949 0 0

  (previous year) (4,787) (4,787) 0 0

  thereof within the scope of 
  social security 983 983 0 0

  (previous year) (751) (751) 0 0

Total 177,971 110,063 67,907 31,547

 (previous year) (176,370) (100,237) (76,133) (40,230)

in EUR (thousands) 12/31/2021
Remaining term 

up to 1 year
Residual term 

over 1 year
thereof 

over 5 years

Credit institutions 141,630 76,910 64,720 31,110

 (previous year) (139,448) (67,246) (72,202) (39,276)

Deliveries/Services 2,329 2,329 0 0

 (previous year) (2,156) (2,156) (0) (0)

Affiliated companies 7,239 7,239 0 0

 (previous year) (14,364) (14,364) (0) (0)

Other liabilities 2,332 2,332 0 0

 (previous year) (4,602) (4,602) (0) (0)

   thereof from taxes 1,086 1,086 0 0

    (previous year) (2,671) (2,671) (0) (0)

  thereof within the scope of 
   social security 0 0 0 0

  (previous year) (59) (59) (0) (0)

Total 153,530 88,810 64,720 31,110

(previous year) (160,570) (88,368) (72,202) (39,276)

8a. Liabilities – Group 8b. Liabilities – AG

As of the balance sheet date, the Group reported liabilities to 
banks in the amount of 147.5 million euros. Further collateral 
was provided in the form of equalization and negative pledges 
by Duisburger Hafen AG, and loss compensation claims by HDR 
under the intercompany agreement with Duisburger Hafen 
AG were assigned. In addition, commitments were made to 
comply with specified balance sheet ratios for the Group.

Other liabilities mainly comprise accounts receivable with 
credit balances in the amount of EUR 162,000 and lease and 
rental deposits in the amount of EUR 995,000. Equalization 
and negative pledges as well as obligations to maintain certain 
balance sheet ratios were issued as collateral for the loans. 

Liabilities to affiliated companies include EUR 6,726,000 (pre-
vious year: EUR 17,778,000) from cash pooling with various 
subsidiaries and EUR 1,507,000 (previous year: EUR 997,000) 
from the Company’s trade transactions. These were offset 
against receivables in the amount of EUR 994,000 (previous 
year: EUR 4,411,000) as part of the offsetting of balances 
within the Group.

9. Deferred taxes pursuant to Section 274 HGB
The application of Section 274 HGB results in deferred tax 
assets in the consolidated financial statements from valua-
tion differences between the commercial and tax valuations 
of the Group for property, plant and equipment, financial 
assets, pension provisions and other provisions, and deferred 
tax liabilities from the capitalization of internally generated 
intangible assets at a subsidiary. Deferred taxes are also 
calculated on the basis of a tax rate of 34.2%. In Duisburger 

Hafen AG, deferred taxes result from valuation differences 
between the commercial and tax valuations of fixed assets, 
pension provisions and other provisions. These are generally 
valued at a tax rate of 34.2%. For Duisburger Hafen AG, this 
resulted for the first time in an excess of deferred taxes on 
the liabilities side which is accordingly shown in the individual 
and consolidated financial statements of Duisburger Hafen 
AG. The amount shown of EUR 3,941,000 includes deferred 
tax liabilities of EUR 5,605,000 and deferred tax assets of 
EUR 1,664,000.

10. Deferred taxes from consolidation 
measures – Group
Consolidation measures result in deferred tax liabilities from 
the elimination of tax valuations in the consolidated financial 
statements. Deferred tax assets result from the elimination 
of intercompany profits. The deferred tax liabilities of EUR 
11,289,000 resulting from the elimination of tax valuations 
were offset against the deferred tax assets of EUR 1,782,000 
in accordance with Section 306 HGB. A tax rate of 34.2% 
(previous year: 34.2%) was applied in the calculation of 
deferred taxes.
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Contingent liabilities and other financial commitments
Duisburger Hafen AG has issued directly enforceable guaran-
tees of EUR 58.5 million (previous year: EUR 59.0 million) to 
various granting authorities in favor of HDR. This relates to 
the security of repayment obligations for subsidies granted. 
The risk of a claim under the guarantee for these repayment 
obligations is considered to be low due to HDR’s good net 
assets, financial position, and results of operations. 

Duisburger Hafen AG has issued guarantees in favor of its 
subsidiaries dpl WV in the amount of EUR 225,000 (previous 
year: EUR 225,000), dpl GmbH in the amount of EUR 52,000 
(previous year: EUR 52,000), and HWF in the amount of EUR 
1,126,000 (previous year: EUR 1,126,000). We consider the 
risk of a possible claim arising from these obligations to be 
low due to the positive net assets, financial position, and 
results of operations.

Duisburger Hafen AG has also undertaken to provide HDR 
with sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations during the 
year. We also consider the risk of a possible claim arising from 
this obligation to be low due to the good net assets, financial 
position, and results of operations of HDR.

Encumbrances in rem existed as follows at the balance 
sheet date:

Encumbrances – Group 

Other financial commitments in the Group amount to a 
nominal EUR 31,521,000. Other financial commitments of 
Duisburger Hafen AG amount to EUR 2,903,000. Of this 
amount, EUR 1,683,000 is owed to companies outside the 
Group and EUR 1,220,000 to affiliated companies.
The Group’s exposure from investing and non-investing 
activities amounts to EUR 35.8 million, of which EUR 31.4 
million relates to the parent company.

Duisburger Hafen AG is a member of Rheinische Zusatzver-
sorgungskasse (RZVK), a supplementary pension fund based 

sqm
Load on the footprints 

in %
thereof AG

sqm

Leasehold rights in favor of Port residents 1,595,150 16.58 1,219,929

Easements (e.g., for the operation pipelines and wells) 1,611,752 16.76 652.926

Rights of way and other rights 599,440 6.23 410,405

Total 3,806,342 39.57 2,283,260

in Cologne. The RZVK supplementary pension fund has the 
task of granting its members’ employees an additional old-
age, reduced-earning capacity, and survivors’ pension in 
the form of a defined contribution plan. The amount of the 
company pension depends on the respective annual salary 
and the age of the employee.

In 2021, the contribution rate was 4.25% of the remuneration 
subject to supplementary pension payments. The percentage 
rate for the restructuring allowance (to finance the entitle-
ments and vested rights established before January 1, 2002) 
was 3.5%. The total remuneration for duisport employees 
subject to the supplementary pension scheme amounted 
to EUR 12.9 million in the 2021 financial year (previous year: 
EUR 11.8 million).

This obligation is an indirect pension obligation for which no 
provision has been made in accordance with Article 28 (1) 
sentence 2 EGHGB. The compensation amount relating to 
Duisburger Hafen AG pursuant to Section 15a of the RZVK 
Articles of Association amounts to a total of EUR 27.0 million 
as of December 31, 2021 (previous year: EUR 26.5 million). 
The calculation of the compensation amount was based on 
an actuarial interest rate of 0.9% and a pension dynamic of 
1.0%. This is a contingent liability which would only have to 
be borne directly by Duisburger Hafen AG if the company 
terminated its membership of the RZVK.
 
Off-balance sheet transactions
In order to raise liquid funds to finance future investment 
projects, HDR sold a logistics property to MOLANKA Vermie-
tungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Duisport KG, Düsseldorf, 
in 2012 and leased it back (sale-and-leaseback). At the same 
time, the property company was granted a ground lease for 
a period of 70 years. 

The property is leased on a long-term basis to an internation-
al logistics company. The long-term rental income that can 
be generated in this way exceeds the rental expenses to be 
borne by HDR from the sale-and-leaseback transaction, which 
has a basic rental period of 15 years. At the end of the basic 
rental period, there is an option to repurchase the property.
 
The advantage of this transaction is that the liquid funds 
accruing to HDR via this financing model will be available 
for the investments planned in 2021 and subsequent years. 

There is no financial risk for HDR, as the lease has since been 
extended on a long-term basis.
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Type of interest 
rate hedge swap

Group  
nominal volume  
EUR (thousands)

Group  
market value

EUR (thousands)

AG  
nominal volume
EUR (thousands)

AG  
market value

EUR (thousands)

Payer interest rate swaps (EUR) 72,373 −15,887 72,373 −15,887

of which for hedging 
financial liabilities 49,364 −9,986 49,364 −9,986

of which for hedging 
highly probable forecast 
transactions 23,009 −5,901 23,009 −5,901

Hedged item/hedging instrument 
Risk/type of  

valuation unit
Included 
amount

Amount of 
the hedged risk

Floating-rate loan payer interest 
rate swap (AG)

Interest rate risk/ 
portfolio 72,373 −15,887

of which for hedging financial liabilities 49,364 −9,986

of which for hedging highly probable 
forecast transactions 23,009 −5,901

Derivative financial instruments

The following interest rate hedging swaps existed as of the 
balance sheet date:

The offsetting cash flows in this portfolio of hedged items and 
hedging transactions are expected to offset each other with 
a high degree of effectiveness in the hedging period, which 
ends between 2022 and 2032 depending on the individual 
hedging transaction, because according to the Company’s 
risk policy, risk positions from variable interest rates (hedged 
items) are hedged against liquidity risk immediately after they 
arise. Up to the reporting date, the offsetting cash flows from 
the hedged items and hedging transactions have balanced 
each other out, with the exception of a minor ineffectiveness 
due to differing interest payment dates. As the sum of the 
notional amounts of the interest rate swaps does not exceed 
the sum of the notional amounts of the loans and the term 
of the interest rate swaps, taking into account that the highly 
probable follow-up financing is not longer than the term of 
the hedged items, a high degree of effectiveness is assumed 
prospectively. In addition, the high retrospective effectiveness 
achieved also speaks in favor of high prospective effective-
ness. The change in variable cash flows method is used to 
measure retrospective effectiveness. These valuation units 
are formed in both the annual financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements of Duisburger Hafen AG.
 
The payer interest rate swaps have maturities ending between 
2022 and 2032. The majority of the variable-rate loans includ-
ed in the valuation units do not have a fixed term (revolving 
loans). One loan with an amount of EUR 10 million has a matu-
rity date of February 19, 2026. We assume that the expected 
transactions are highly probable, as we currently expect that 
the loans will be continued at least at the current level until 
the end of the term of the payer interest rate swaps or that 
corresponding follow-up financing, which is also variable, 
will be provided, as the Company will continue to require this 
liquidity for future investments in infrastructure and super-
structure as well as maintenance measures. The valuation 
unit therefore includes transactions expected with a high 
degree of probability (with an identical total nominal value).

In the financial statements as of December 31, 2021, the 
variable-interest liabilities and the interest rate swaps are 
presented as a single valuation unit. A provision for onerous 
contracts for swaps with negative fair values at the reporting 
date is generally recognized in the amount of any ineffec- 
tiveness resulting from deviating interest payment dates. In 
the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements as of December 31, 2021, a provision for onerous 
contracts in the amount of EUR 759,000 had to be recognized 
for this reason.

The fair values of the interest rate swaps correspond to 
their respective market values, which are determined using 
appropriate actuarial methods (discounted cash flow method). 
Only parameters observable on the market are used in the 
measurement of the interest rate swaps.

Valuation units
The following valuation units were formed:
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VI. Notes to the income statement

1. Sales revenue

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020

Infrastructure 31,897 30,561 24,178 23,762

Suprastructure 24,691 23,337 10,145 10,253

Logistic services 116,535 87,257 191 193

Packaging services 94,281 87,053 0 0

Contract logistics 29,463 33,825 0 0

Other sales 18,133 1,896 12,641 11,929

Total 315,000 263,929 47,155 46,137

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Grants received 2,126 691 2,102 691

Value adjustments 1,762 486 111 86

Reversal of provisions 1,431 1,255 86 148

Income from asset disposals 903 1,986 2,503 1,882

Damages 370 362 0 14

Other income unrelated 
to the accounting period 359 253 142 141

Write-ups on fixed and  
current assets 216 781 216 781

Price income 62 2 63 0

Other 485 235 151 27

Total 7,714 6,051 5,374 3,770

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Cost of raw materials, supplies 
and purchased merchandise 38,463 31,750 558 587

Expenses for purchased  
services 110,658 75,920 3,608 4,117

Total 149,121 107,670 4,166 4,704

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Wages and salaries 56,813 54,516 17,808 15,550

Social security contributions and 
expenses for pensions and other 
employee benefits 12,862 12,469 4,393 3,644

(thereof for pensions) (2,275) (1,526) (2,159) (1,393)

Total 69,675 66,985 22,201 19,194

The change in the scope of consolidation resulted in revenue 
of EUR 10,000. Other revenue in the Group mainly results 
from the sale of a logistics property at HDR.

2. Other own work capitalized – Group
Own work capitalized by the duisport Group in the amount 
of EUR 250,000 results from various construction projects 
of Duisburger Hafen AG and HDR.

3. Other operating income

4. Cost of materials

The change in the scope of consolidation resulted in cost of 
materials amounting to EUR 10,000.

5. Personnel expenses

For employees who have not been given a direct pension 
commitment, Duisburger Hafen AG has an additional pension 
plan with RZVK.
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6. Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation 
of property, plant, and equipment

8. Income from investments

9. Income from loans of financial assets

10. Interest income and interest expense

7. Other operating expenses

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Intangible assets 
– scheduled 3,475 3,518 763 619

Property, plant and equipment 
– scheduled 14,893 15,125 3,105 3,084

Unscheduled depreciation 387 1,045 386 0

Total 18,755 19,688 4,254 3,703

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Income from investments/ 
associated companies 2,754 1,727 5,766 2,748

 (thereof from affiliated  
 companies) (0) (0) (3,867) (1,588)

Income from profit transfer 0 0 25,482 7,827

Total 2,754 1,727 31,248 10,575

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Income from loans 269 256 7,693 7,232

 (thereof from affiliated  
 companies) (0) (0) (7,452) (7,002)

Total 269 256 7,693 7,232

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Other interest and similar income 86 61 233 349

 (thereof from affiliated  
 companies) (0) (0) (216) (327)

Interest and similar expenses −3,917 −4,383 −3,246 −3,456

 (thereof to affiliated companies) (0) (0) (−105) (−105)

 (thereof expenses from the  
 accrued interest on non-current  
 provisions) (−789) (−1,074) (−240) (−243)

Total −3,831 −4,322 −3,013 −3,107

in EUR (thousands) Group 2021 Group 2020 AG 2021 AG 2020 

Third-party services for maintenance 14,109 10,783 5,985 3,533

Rental and lease expenses 13,761 16,701 1,934 1,694

Law, consulting, insurance  
and similar 9,637 7,832 5,224 3,588

Disposal costs 1,889 1,928 1,029 972

Communication 1,314 1,617 886 933

Damage costs 1,075 1,233 18 48

Corporate communications  
and marketing 1,071 1,461 968 1,324

Value adjustments 904 1,385 57 135

Travel expenses 547 595 148 183

External personnel 282 428 564 447

Other expenses relating to 
other periods 183 129 11 1

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 89 15 2 517

Course expenses 65 182 41 182

Intragroup services 0 0 1,596 1,584

Other 4,884 4,314 2,022 1,512

Total 49,810 48,603 20,485 16,653
11. Depreciation of financial assets
In the year under review, Duisburger Hafen AG recognized 
impairment losses on financial assets in the amount of EUR 
5,130,000 due to permanent impairment. 

12. Taxes on income and earnings
EUR 5,604,000 of the income taxes in the Group and EUR 
4,163,000 in Duisburger Hafen AG relate to the taxable result 
of the 2021 financial year and EUR 192,000 to effects from 
previous periods.

In addition, income of EUR 623,000 (previous year: EUR 
623,000) in the consolidated financial statements relates to 
the change in recognized deferred taxes.

Deferred taxes of EUR 3,941,000 were recognized for the first 
time in the separate financial statements of the AG. Of this 
amount, deferred tax liabilities accounted for EUR 5,605,000 
and deferred tax assets for EUR 1,664,000.
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VIII. Other information

Average number of employees by company

Disclosures in accordance with section 264 (3) HGB and 
section 264b HGB
The subsidiaries Hafen Duisburg-Rheinhausen GmbH, duisport 
agency GmbH, dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH, duisport 
rail GmbH and dpl Chemnitz GmbH make use of the relief 
available under Section 264 (3) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) to the extent that the financial statements are 
not published in accordance with Section 325 of the HGB. 

Supplementary report
The coronavirus pandemic continues at the beginning of 
the financial year. It remains to be seen how far-reaching 
the effects will be. 

Since Russia’s invasion of Ukraine at the end of February 
2022, war has been raging in Europe. The European Union 
and the USA have imposed sanctions against Russian and 
Belarusian companies. These will have an impact on the 
economic life and business activities of the companies of 
the duisport Group. At present, the extent and duration of 
the war and the associated sanctions imposed on each other 
are not foreseeable, so it is currently not possible to estimate 
the financial implications.  

Apart from the above, no events of particular significance 
have occurred since the reporting date that have a material 
impact on the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Company.

Appropriation of profits
The Executive Board proposes to distribute an amount of EUR 
6,000,000.00 from the unappropriated profit of Duisburger 
Hafen AG of EUR 22,181,162.81 to the shareholders and to 
transfer the remaining amount to the legal reserve.

Auditor’s fee
The auditor’s fee in the Group for the financial year was as 
follows:

Industrial workers Office staff Apprentices Total employees

2021 2020

duisport packing logistics GmbH 158 71 9 238 263

Duisburger Hafen AG 1 207 14 222 225

Bohnen Logistik GmbH & Co. KG 121 25 0 146 163

dfl duisport facility logistics GmbH 81 21 2 104 108

duisport rail GmbH 76 7 8 91 90

dpl Weinzierl Verpackungen GmbH 66 18 3 87 96

dpl Chemnitz GmbH 61 12 7 80 90

Emballages Industriels, Logistique 
& Services SAS 56 13 1 70 67

Holz Weinzierl Fertigungen GmbH 
& Co. KG 44 10 0 54 48

RBL Reiner Bohnen Logistik GmbH 49 4 0 53 56

duisport agency GmbH 3 37 0 40 40

Umschlag Terminal Marl GmbH  
& Co. KG 20 7 0 27 28

BREEZE Industrial Packing GmbH 0 20 3 23 24

MASSLOG GmbH 8 2 0 10 9

Duisport Agency Polska Sp.z o.o. 0 5 0 5 3

duisport packing logistics India 
Pvt. Ltd. 0 4 0 4 2

startport GmbH 0 4 0 4 2

Distri Rail B.V. 0 3 0 3 14

LOGPORT Logistic-Center  
Duisburg GmbH 0 0 0 0 1

Total 744 470 47 1,261 1,329

The other consolidated companies did not employ any staff 
of their own. 

In the previous year, an average of 785 Industrial workers, 490 
office staff, and 54 apprentices were employed.

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and bank 
balances and liabilities. There are no restrictions on the dis-
posal of cash and cash equivalents.

The total amount of interest paid in the Group during 2021 
was EUR 3.0 million. 

Proportionately consolidated companies result in cash and cash 
equivalents of EUR 2,284 thousand as of December 31, 2021.

Audit services EUR 276K

Other certification services EUR 24K

Total fee TEUR 300
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Members of the Board of Directors
Markus Bangen, Düsseldorf
Chairman of the Executive Board from August 1, 2021

Prof. Thomas Schlipköther, Essen

Dr. Carsten Hinne, Meerbusch
from January 1, 2022

Erich Staake, Meerbusch
Member of the Board of Management and Chairman
until July 31, 2021

Total remuneration of the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board
The compensation of the Executive Board in 2021 was as 
follows:

Figures in EUR
Markus 
Bangen

Prof. Thomas  
Schlipköther

Erich  
Staake Total

Non-performance-related salary 255,795.00 264,545.88 364,998.37 885,339.25

Other non-performance-related
remuneration 64,126.91* 16,914.00 74,623.34 155,664.25

Performance-related compensation 153,477.00 158,727.53 190,183.34 502,387.87

Total remuneration 473,398.91 440,187.41 629,805.05 1,543,391.37

Figures in EUR

Status 12/31/2020 2,913,290.00

Access Erich Staake 3,063,251.00

Pension payments −314,637.00

Current addition 132,093.00

Allocation from compounding 574,260.00

Status 12/31/2021 6,368,257.00

Figures in EUR 12/31/2020
Feed/

Resolution 12/31/2021

Prof. Thomas Schlipköther 2,025,141.00 301,551.00 2,326,692.00

Total 2,025,141.00 301,551.00 2,326,692.00

* including pension plan

The following pension provisions exist for members of the 
Board of Management:

The following pension provisions exist for former members 
of the Executive Board and their surviving dependents:

The individual members of the Supervisory Board received 
the following total compensation in 2021:

Supervisory Board member
Remuneration 
in 2021 in EUR 

Attendance fee 
2021 in EUR 

Total  
in 2021 in EUR 

Dr. Hendrik Schulte 1 2,045.16 3,250.00 5,295.16

Karl-Heinz Wich-Kuhnlein 2 1,533.88 3,750.00 5,283.88

Martin Murrack 2 1,533.88 3.000.00 4,533.88

Dr. Patrick Opdenhövel 2 1,533.88 2,750.00 4,283.88

Udo Vohl 1,022.58 2,750.00 3,772.58

Thomas Dautzenberg 1,022.58 2,750.00 3,772.58

Susanne Elsässer 1,022.58 2,750.00 3,772.58

Ulrich Brottmann 1,022.58 2,250.00 3,272.58

Nadine Krischer 1,022.58 2,250.00 3,272.58

Katrin Florysczak 1,022.58 2,250.00 3,272.58

Dr. Tobias Traupel 1,022.58 1,750.00 2,772.58

Thomas Susen 511.29 2,000.00 2,511.29

Martin Gräf 511.29 1,750.00 2,261.29

Total 14,827.44 33,250.00 48,077.44

1 Chairman
2 Vice Chairman

The members of the Supervisory Board were not granted 
any performance-related compensation or compensation 
with a long-term incentive effect.

Loans to members of the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board 
There were no loans to members of the Executive Board or 
Supervisory Board as of December 31, 2021.

Duisburg, May 10, 2022

Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft
The Board

Bangen Prof. Schlipköther Dr. Hinne
(Chairman)
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Audit opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg, and its sub-
sidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2021, the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year 
from January 1 to December 31, 2021, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including the accounting 
policies, combined with the notes to the parent company’s 
financial statements. We have also audited the combined 
management report of Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, 
Duisburg, and the parent company for the business year from 
January 1 to December 31, 2021. We have not audited the 
contents of the section “SUSTAINABILITY” and the section 
“STATEMENT ON THE PUBLICATION OF THE DECLARATION 
OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 
AND DECLARATION ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE“ contained 
in the combined management report, in which reference is 
made to the declaration on corporate governance pursuant 
to Section 289f (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
(information on the proportion of women), in accordance 
with German legal requirements. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the con-
solidated financial statements are as follows:

 •  The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group as of December 31, 2021, and 
of its financial performance for the fiscal year from 
January 1 to December 31, 2021, in accordance with 
German principles of proper accounting; and 

 •  The accompanying combined management report as a 
whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position. 
In all material respects, this combined management 
report is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements, complies with German legal requirements, 
and accurately presents the opportunities and risks of 

future development. Our audit opinion on the com-
bined management report does not cover the content 
of the above-mentioned sections “SUSTAINABILITY” 
and “STATEMENT ON THE PUBLICATION OF THE DEC-
LARATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CODE AND STATEMENT ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE”.

In accordance with § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare 
that our audit has not led to any reservations concerning the 
propriety of the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report.

Basis for the audit judgments

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the combined management report in accordance 
with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards 
for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Our responsibility under 
those provisions and standards is further described in the 
section “Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Combined Management 
Report” of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the 
Group companies in accordance with German commercial 
law and professional regulations and have fulfilled our other 
German professional obligations in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report.

Other information 

The legal representatives or the Supervisory Board are respon-
sible for the other information. The other information includes:

 •  the section “SUSTAINABILITY” in the combined man-
agement report

Auditor’s Report of the Independent Auditor
To Duisburger Hafen Aktiengesellschaft, Duisburg

 •  the section “DECLARATION ON THE PUBLICATION OF 
THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND DECLARA-
TION ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE” in the combined 
management report, in which reference is made to the 
corporate governance statement pursuant to section 
289f (4) HGB (disclosures on the proportion of women).

 •  but not the consolidated financial statements, the 
audited content of the combined management report 
and our audit opinion thereon.

The legal representatives and the Supervisory Board are 
responsible for the corporate governance report referred 
to in section “STATEMENT ON THE PUBLICATION OF THE 
DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CODE AND DECLARATION ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE” of the combined management report. In all 
other respects, the legal representatives are responsible for 
the other information.

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report do not cover the other 
information, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
or any other form of conclusion on it.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements, we have a responsibility to read the other 
information and, in doing so, evaluate whether the other 
information is:
 
 •  materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, the combined management report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

 •  otherwise appears to be materially misrepresented. 

Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Super-
visory Board for the consolidated financial statements and 
the combined management report 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with German commercial law and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. Furthermore, management is responsible for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, man-
agement is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. They are also responsible for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 
Furthermore, they are responsible for preparing the financial 
statements on the basis of the going concern principle, unless 
factual or legal circumstances prevent this. 

In addition, management is responsible for the preparation of 
the combined management report that as a whole provides 
a suitable view of the Group’s position and is consistent in all 
material respects with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German legal requirements, and suitably pres-
ents the opportunities and risks of future development. Fur-
thermore, management is responsible for the arrangements 
and measures (systems) that it determines are necessary to 
enable the preparation of the combined management report 
in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements 
and to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the state-
ments made in the combined management report. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the combined management report 
 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and whether the combined management report as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and is consis-
tent, in all material respects, with the consolidated financial 
statements and the audit findings, complies with German 
legal requirements, and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our audit opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements and the combined management report. 
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards 
for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in 
Germany) (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report.

During the audit, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain a critical attitude. Furthermore, we:
 
 •  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement is 
higher in the case of non-compliance than in the case 
of misstatement, as non-compliance may involve fraud, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misleading representa-
tions, or the override of internal controls.

 •  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the arrangements and actions relevant to the 
audit of the combined management report in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of those systems. 

 •  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

 •  Conclude on the appropriateness of the going concern 
basis of accounting used by management and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements and the combined 
group management report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. 
We draw our conclusions based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our audit opinion. However, 
future events or conditions may result in the Group 
being unable to continue as a going concern. 

 •  Assess the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the 
Group in accordance with German principles of proper 
accounting. 

 •  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the accounting information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report. We are responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements. We are solely responsible 
for our audit opinions. 

 •  Assess the consistency of the combined management 
report with the consolidated financial statements, its 
legality and the overall presentation of the Group’s 
position in the consolidated financial statements. 

 •  Perform audit procedures on the forward-looking 
statements made by management in the combined 
management report. Based on sufficient appropri-
ate audit evidence, we in particular verify the signif-
icant assumptions underlying the forward-looking 
statements made by management and evaluate the 
appropriateness of the information derived from these 
assumptions. We do not express an independent opin-
ion on the forward-looking statements or on the under-
lying assumptions. There is a significant unavoidable 
risk that future events may differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements.

We discuss with those charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Düsseldorf, May 10, 2022

Deloitte Ltd.
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Rolf Künemann
Certified Public Accountant

Josef Pergens 
Certified Public Accountant



AN N UAL REPORT 2021 OF TH E DU ISPORT GROU P

8382

SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders

AN N UAL REPORT 2021 OF TH E DU ISPORT GROU P



8584

SHAREHOLDERSAN N UAL REPORT 2021 OF TH E DU ISPORT GROU P

The capital stock of Duisburger Hafen AG amounts to 
EUR 46,020,000. It is divided into 46,020 registered 
shares with restricted transferability.

The following have an interest in the share capital:

the state of North Rhine-Westphalia
via the investment management
company of the State of North
Rhine-Westphalia mbH with EUR 30,680,000

the City of Duisburg with EUR 15,340,000

Shareholders
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